WISCONSIN REGISTERED APPRENTICESHIP MANUAL

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF WISCONSIN REGISTERED APPRENTICESHIP SYSTEM

> PREPARED BY DEPARTMENT OF WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT BUREAU OF APPRENTICESHIP STANDARDS



DETA-13246-P (R **/**)

Contents

Occupations	.3
Apprenticeable Occupations	.3
Licensed Occupations	.3
Forming a State Committee	.4
Sponsor Registration	.7
Sponsors	. 8
Local Apprenticeship Committees	.8
Sole Sponsor Programs	10
Industry Committee	11
Program Standards	
Contract	
Exhibit A	
Contract Completion	
Minor Apprentices	
Apprentice Selection Procedures	
Apprentice Compensation	
Prior Work and Education Credit	
Related Instruction	
Curriculum	
Related Instruction Providers	
Paid Related Instruction Delivery	
Attendance and Progress	
Apprenticeship Completion Award Program	
Recordkeeping	
Equal Opportunity	34
Assignment of Responsibility	
Universal Outreach and Recruitment	34
Harassment, Intimidation and Retaliation	
Dissemination of Equal Opportunity Policy	
Affirmative Action Plan	
Implementation of Affirmative Action Plan	39
Compliance Review	
Quality Assurance Assessment	
Deficiencies	
Collective Bargaining Agreements	44
Apprentice-Journeyworker Ratios	44
Labor Disputes	44
Layoff and Unassignment	45
Related Instruction During Layoff	45
Sponsor Deregistration & Suspension	46
Equal Opportunity Enforcement Action	46
Complaints and Appeals	48
Contract Complaints	48
Discrimination Complaint	
Intent to Cancel Notice	50
Cancellation Notice	
Hearings	51
Wisconsin Apprenticeship Council	53

Occupations

Apprenticeable Occupations

No apprentice contract can be approved for registered apprenticeship unless the occupation involved has been approved by the Wisconsin Bureau of Apprenticeship Standards (Bureau) as an "apprenticeable" occupation.¹ Such an occupation...

- a) Involves skills that are customarily learned in a practical way through a structured, systematic program of on-the-job supervised learning;
- b) Is clearly identified and commonly recognized throughout an industry;
- c) Involves the progressive attainment of manual, mechanical, or technical skills and knowledge which, in accordance with the industry standard for the occupation, would require the completion of at least 2,000 hours of on-the-job learning to attain;
- d) Requires related instruction to supplement the on-the-job learning.²

In order to determine if an occupation meets the aforementioned criteria, the Bureau may survey employers, trade associations and various advisory committees. The Bureau will recognize and approve apprenticeship programs registered with the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL), or a DOL-approved state apprenticeship agency (SAA), that conform with Wisconsin apprenticeship rules and regulations.

Licensed Occupations

Certain registered apprentice occupations are also licensed through the Department of Safety and Professional Services (DSPS). These occupations are:

- a) Barber,³
- b) Cosmetologist,⁴
- c) Electrician,⁵
- d) Plumber,⁶
- e) Automatic Fire Sprinkler Fitter,⁷
- f) Funeral Director,⁸ and
- g) Elevator Constructor.⁹

An apprentice in one of the licensed occupations must be registered as an apprentice with the Bureau and obtain a work permit through DSPS prior to beginning employment in the trade. Apprentices must complete all applicable DSPS requirements of their apprenticeship training program before taking the occupation's licensure examination.

Note: the elevator constructor apprenticeship is a federal program and apprentices must register through DOL, as opposed to the Bureau.

Statewide Standards

Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 295 grants authority to the Bureau to adopt statewide apprenticeship standards covering training, procedures, employer and apprentice qualifications, sponsor functions, and other matters related to apprenticeship training in a particular occupation.¹⁰ When the Bureau adopts state

- ¹ § DWD 295.15(1)(a)
- ² § DWD 295.15(2)(a)-(d)
- ³ § SPS 50.100
- ⁴ § COS 6.01(4)

⁵ Wis. Stat. § 101.862
 ⁶ Wis. Stat. § 145.06
 ⁷ § SPS 305.50
 ⁸ Wis. Stat. § 445.04(2)

⁹ § SPS 205.991 ¹⁰ § DWD 295.02(1) occupational standards in a given occupation, local apprenticeship programs training in that occupation must conform to them to ensure uniform apprentice training and comparable skill attainment.

To gather expert advice on setting state occupational standards, the Bureau uses a network of State Apprenticeship Advisory Committees (State Committees) in each industry, trade, or occupation. This model is employed universally for construction occupations and selectively in other sectors like manufacturing, utilities, and emerging professional trades. Alternatively, the Bureau may solicit expertise through other outlets, such as a focus group.

Forming a State Committee

Many of the existing State Committees have a long-established role within Wisconsin registered apprenticeship and are enduring. However, the need for a new state committee may arise when one of three circumstances occurs:

- 1) two or more standing state committees merge into a single committee;
- 2) one or more occupations overseen by an existing state committee are extracted into a new state committee of a more appropriate scope; or
- 3) a new apprenticeship program is developed for one or more related occupations that are outside the scope of an existing standing state committee.

When the Bureau identifies a need for a State Committee, or a request is made of the Bureau to establish one, the Bureau works to identify organizations that represent a cross-section of employers and employees in that occupation or industry. Willing organizations are asked to nominate representatives for the State Committee. The Bureau will assign an equal number of employer and employee representatives from the recommendations and encourage a membership that is representative in respect to both geography and demographics.

When a new State Committee is formed for an apprenticeship program in a new sector lacking apprentice sponsors, the Bureau may assign employers from the development focus group, who were involved in the creation of the apprenticeship but who are not sponsors, until a quorum of sponsors can be attained. The Bureau also may refrain from establishing a permanent State Committee until sponsor participation reaches an operational threshold.

Membership of a State Committee

The membership of a State Committee is comprised of no less than four and no more than 20members, consisting of an equal number of members representing employer and employee interests. Membership of a State Committee must represent all occupations overseen by the committee, all types of employers active in training apprentices, and a variety of geographic areas of the state. The Bureau may designate consultants to serve as non-voting members, including technical college representatives, apprenticeship coordinators, training instructors, and other interested parties.

Employer Members

Employer members will be nominated by professional organizations involved in the training of apprentices in the affiliated occupations. Such organizations must be actively training apprentices, or have done so within the last two years, to nominate a representative. This requirement is waived for organizations involved in the development of a new apprenticeship occupation. Where no professional organization exists, the Bureau may identify and appoint members.

In state construction committees, the percentages of employer members representing union employers and non-union employers must approximate the percentages of union and non-union apprentices in the occupation(s) statewide. For example, a 10-member committee with 60 percent union and 40 percent non-union apprentices would have six union representatives and four non-union representatives.

Employee Members

Employee representatives are nominated to the Bureau by employee organizations and internal apprenticeship committees. In cases where a sponsor has no internal apprenticeship committee, nominees will be solicited from employers or professional organizations.

Terms

State Committee members will serve terms of three years and may be nominated for additional terms. Memberships will be staggered to maintain continuity. Vacancies may be filled, or representatives changed during an active term, at the request of the nominating entity. The Bureau may remove a person from membership on a State Committee for one or more of the following reasons:

- 1) Failure to attend at least 75 percent of the committee meetings during the membership term, unless excused by the Bureau for good cause;
- 2) Failure to meet the membership requirements outlined in this section, unless a documented exception is granted by the Bureau; and/or
- 3) Violation of any state apprenticeship statute, rule or standard.

State Committee Operations

Meetings

State Committees meet at least twice per year, or more frequently if requested by the Bureau, in conformity with the Wisconsin Open Meeting Law. The committee will elect two co-chairs: one employer representative and one employee representative. A quorum exists when at least two employer and two employee representatives are present. Official meeting minutes will be prepared and catalogued by the Bureau.

Duties

State Committees are designed to arrive at recommendations based on consensus, meaning that the recommendations they make to the Bureau should reflect the interests of the collective group, rather than a simple majority. Reaching consensus does not assume that every member will be in complete agreement, but that a compromise has been reached. Primary State Committee functions are to:

- i. Advise the Bureau and educators, such as the Wisconsin Technical College System (WTCS), on curriculum content and delivery of related instruction concerning the State Committee's apprenticeship programs.
- ii. Make recommendations for revisions to the state minimum standards to the State Committee's affiliated occupations every five years, or more frequently as needed. These minimum standards include:
 - a. The provisions of the Exhibit A, with the exclusion of compensation;
 - b. Minimum qualifications for apprentices, such as entrance scores;
 - c. Minimum qualifications for apprentice sponsors; and
 - d. Employer requirements to serve as an apprentice trainer.
- iii. Advise the Bureau on policies and procedures pertaining to the administration of each apprenticeship occupation associated with the State Committee, including matters related to:

- a. Apprentice reviews;
- b. Apprentice selection processes;
- c. Assessing and awarding credit for previous experience and education;
- d. Local committee operations and meeting frequency;
- e. Apprentice layoff and transfer policies and procedures;
- f. The formation and dissolution of local apprenticeship committees;
- g. Outreach and expansion strategies.

Sponsor Registration

To serve as a registered apprenticeship sponsor, a program must seek approval through the Bureau and meet all state registration criteria:

- i. The training is in an apprenticeable occupation,
- ii. The program is in conformity with DWD 295,¹¹ and
- iii. The program is in compliance with DWD 296.¹²

Employers seeking to sponsor an apprenticeship program as a sole sponsor must be in operation for at least one year prior to registration, demonstrating a stable training environment for apprentices.

Provisional Registration

When the Bureau determines that a program meets the criteria for registration, the Bureau grants provisional approval.¹³ Provisional approval is given to all new sponsors and returning sponsors who have not trained apprentices in the past five years.

Provisional registration is effective for a full apprentice training cycle. For example, programs that are three years in length will have a provisional registration of at least three years. At the end of each year during the provisional training cycle, the Bureau will review the sponsor to determine compliance with apprenticeship training requirements.¹⁴

Upon completion of the sponsor's first apprenticeship training cycle, the Bureau will conduct a final provisional quality assurance assessment. The assessment will determine if the sponsor has completed its provisional registration period to achieve permanent registration status, or if the program is not operating in conformance to the regulations, in which case the Bureau may pursue program deregistration.¹⁵ When a program's provisional registration is completed and permanent registration is obtained, the Bureau will issue a certificate of registration to the program sponsor.

Apprentice Application

Sponsors must use the latest version of the Bureau's standard apprentice application and its attachments, or an acceptable alternative which, at a minimum, provides the same information as the standard form.¹⁶ The standard application gathers the information needed to register an apprentice in BASERS and BASIS, create a contract, and meet affirmative action and equal opportunity requirements.

BASERS

All registered apprenticeship sponsors in the state of Wisconsin must use the Bureau of Apprenticeship Standards Electronic Registration System (BASERS) to register new apprentice contracts. As a condition of each apprenticeship program's continued registration, sponsors must use BASERS to submit and execute contract-related actions whenever possible. Contract-related actions are finalized when the Bureau affirms and processes them. It is the responsibility of the sponsor to initiate such actions within 40 days, such as for apprentices who have successfully completed their contract, transfers, apprentice assignment changes, new apprentice contracts, and cancellations.¹⁷

- ¹³ § DWD 295.01(7) ¹⁶ § DWD 295.04
- ¹³ § DWD 295.01(7) ¹⁶

17 § DWD 295.01(4)

¹¹ § DWD 295.01(2)(a) ¹² § DWD 295.01(2)(b)

¹⁴ § DWD 295.01(7) ¹⁵ § DWD 295.01(7)(a)-(b)

Sponsors

Apprenticeship sponsors are parties to the apprentice contract, along with the Bureau and the apprentice. Sponsors fall into three categories:

- 1. Local apprenticeship committees, which oversee an apprenticeship program in one or more construction occupations for a given geographical area. These committees, their membership, and geographical jurisdictions are established by the Bureau.¹⁸
- 2. Sole sponsors, or employers, who operate an apprenticeship training program within their own company or organization; and
- 3. Industry committees that manage a non-construction apprenticeship program for multiple employers.

Local Apprenticeship Committees

Local apprenticeship committees are established by the Bureau and act in an advisory capacity in the operation of an apprenticeship program in the construction sector. Their membership and geographical jurisdiction are designated by the Bureau. Boundaries may be drawn based on several factors, such as union jurisdiction, technical college districts, recruitment areas and population centers, among others.

Joint Committee Membership

A joint apprenticeship committee consists of an equal number of representatives of employers and representatives of employees.¹⁹ Joint apprenticeship committees must have at least four voting members with an equal number of employer and employee representatives. There shall be two officers (one employer and one employee representative) elected by the committee, so that in the event of one's absence from any meeting, the meeting can proceed. At least one employer and one employee member must be present for a quorum. In case of unequal representation at a joint committee meeting, the group lesser in number shall be entitled to cast the same number of votes as the other group.

The Bureau solicits employer nominations for committee membership from industry or contractor organizations that represent employers that train apprentices, employer-employee organizations, and employers that train in the apprenticeable occupation.²⁰ When there is no area employer organization, the Bureau may request that the statewide employer organization or State Committee assist in identifying qualified employer representatives. Employer members must actively work in the trade or represent those who employ skilled workers of that trade and have trained apprentices within the past five years.

The Bureau solicits employee nominations for committee membership from labor unions. Employee members must be active journeyworkers or represent active journeyworkers.

The Bureau reserves the right to take affirmative steps to ensure that underrepresented populations are included in the committee membership to reflect the demographics of the local skilled workforce.

Non-Joint Committee Membership

A non-joint apprenticeship committee consists of representatives of employers.²¹ Non-joint apprenticeship committees must also have at least four voting members with two officers elected by the committee. The Bureau will select members based on nominations from industry organizations involved with training apprentices or employers that train in the apprenticeable occupation. A quorum exists for non-joint committees when at least two members are present.

²⁰ § DWD 295.03(1)
 ²¹ Wis. Stat. § 106.001(7)

¹⁸ § DWD 295.03(1)

¹⁹ Wis. Stat. § 106.001(6)

Multi-Trade Committee Membership

Multi-trade apprenticeship committees are allowable, provided that each trade is represented by at least one member of the committee, and that that member is present when apprentices from that trade are reviewed by the committee.

Member Removal

The Bureau may remove a person from the membership of a joint or non-joint committee for one or more of the following reasons:

- a) Failure to attend at least 75 percent of the committee meetings during the membership term, unless excused by the Bureau for good cause;
- b) Failure to meet the membership requirements outlined in this section, unless an exception is granted by the Bureau; and
- c) Violation of any state apprenticeship statute, rule or standard.

Functions and Duties

- i. Recommend standards for the apprenticeship program to the Bureau.
- ii. Administer apprenticeship program in accordance with program standards.
- iii. Comply with all equal opportunity obligations and undertake affirmative action activities outlined in Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 296 and the program's affirmative action plan.
- iv. Recommend approval or denial of employer applications to employ apprentices. This recommendation must be made within 40 days of the employer application.²² If the committee recommends denial, the employer must be notified in writing of the committee's recommendation, along with the reasoning behind that recommendation, and informed of their right to request that the Bureau review and revise the committee's recommendation. If the employer does not request review by the Bureau, the committee's recommendation becomes final. All requests for review will be investigated by the Bureau with input from the committee before the Bureau makes its final disposition of the application.
- v. Monitor employers for adherence to program standards and apprenticeship laws and regulations. Any noted discrepancies should be addressed, documented, and brought to the attention of the assigned apprenticeship training representative (ATR).
- vi. The committee must ensure program, work and classroom records are kept for each apprentice.
- vii. Establish a system for the related instruction provider and employers to submit regular reports on apprentice grades, attendance, and training progress.
- viii. Review the status and progress of apprentices at least twice during their apprenticeship, once before the end of the probationary period and again in the final year of the program, so their progress at work and school can be discussed.
- ix. Provide a forum for apprentices to bring complaints alleging that an apprentice contract is not being complied with by another party to the agreement before the committee and render a decision when warranted.²³ If an issue cannot be resolved, apprentices must be informed of their right to make a complaint to the Bureau within 20 days of the final decision by the committee.²⁴
- x. Develop additional written policies related to layoff, assignment, attendance, discipline, affirmative action and equal opportunity, etc., when necessary for the administration of the apprenticeship program.
- xi. Consider petitions for credit for prior experience and education and make recommendations to the Bureau for the award of such credit. Any party to the apprentice contract may request for prior

```
<sup>22</sup> § DWD 295.01(4)
```

²³ § DWD 295.20(1)

²⁴ § DWD 295.20(2)

experience and education. All credit recommendations of the committee, approved or denied, must be made in writing, and forwarded to the assigned ATR.

- xii. Consider and initiate contract actions for review and execution by the Bureau, including registration, cancellation, transfers, and completions.
- xiii. The committee may appoint a representative, such as an apprenticeship coordinator, who will assume responsibility and authority for certain aspects of the apprentice training program as delegated by the committee. The committee must specifically identify the functions delegated to the apprenticeship coordinator.

Meetings

- i. Meet in conformity with the Wisconsin Open Meeting Law, including giving public notice of all meetings at least 24 hours prior to the commencement of the meeting.²⁵
- ii. Keep minutes of each committee meeting and submit copies of those minutes to the Bureau.
- iii. Allow for remote attendance and participation for all meetings, unless technological limitations do not allow for such attendance.
- iv. Notice of all meetings of the committee must be provided to all committee members, related instruction provider, and the Bureau representative.
- v. A meeting may be called by either a committee member, the Bureau, or the related instruction provider.
- vi. Committees must meet at least twice per year, or more frequently as dictated by the state and local standards.

Sole Sponsor Programs

An apprenticeship program sponsored by an individual employer is a sole sponsor program. Under this model, apprenticeship training is conducted at one location or, in the case of a multi-site sole sponsor, at multiple locations controlled by a single employer. A sole sponsor program may be operated unilaterally by management, or in conjunction with a union.

Collective Bargaining Agreement

When a sole sponsor apprenticeship program is being established where a collective bargaining agreement is in effect, the apprenticeship program must not be in conflict with the collective bargaining agreement. If the sponsor registration process is undertaken cooperatively between the employer and an employee union, both parties will need to review and sign the program standards.

Where a collective bargaining agreement exists and the union is not part of the initial sponsor registration process, the Bureau will provide the union a copy of the application for registration and the proposed program standards. The union will then have 45 days to comment on the application and proposed standards before the Bureau takes final action regarding the sponsor registration.²⁶

In-House Committee

If an employer has more than one location where apprentices are stationed, or more than five apprentices in the program, the Bureau recommends utilizing an in-house apprenticeship committee.²⁷ The Bureau can assist the sponsor in establishing procedures to form and operate an in-house committee.

²⁶ § DWD 295.01(10)

²⁷ § DWD 295.03(2)

²⁵ Wis. Stat. §§ 19.81 and 19.84

Committee Membership & Operations

In-house committees must conform to the meeting and membership requirements set by the applicable state standards. They should meet at least twice each year and keep minutes for their meetings. Each committee should have a minimum of four voting members. Membership should include at least one member with direct knowledge of the skilled apprenticeship occupation. A committee may oversee apprenticeship programs with multiple trades, provided that each occupation, or major occupation group, is represented by at least one committee member with knowledge of that occupation. That committee member's attendance and participation is especially important when an apprentice from that skilled occupation is being reviewed by the committee.

Joint Committee

An in-house committee for a jointly managed apprenticeship program should have equal representation of employer and employee members. Where the collective bargaining agreement establishes an in-house committee, the sponsor will follow the terms of that agreement, provided that they are not in conflict with state statutes or apprenticeship rules.

Recommended In-House Committee Duties

When an in-house committee is established, the following functions should be undertaken by either the committee, the employer's management or human resources personnel, or a combination of both. An apprenticeship sole sponsor utilizing an in-house committee should clearly delineate the duties of the committee to ensure compliance with the registered apprenticeship program.

- i. Draft, and modify as needed, program standards for review and approval by the Bureau.
- ii. Administer the apprenticeship program in accordance with program standards.
- iii. Review the status and progress of apprentices at least twice during their apprenticeship, once before the end of the probationary period and again in the final year of the program, so their progress at work and school can be discussed.
- iv. Keep meeting minutes and make copies of those minutes available to the local ATR upon request.
- v. The committee must ensure adequate program, classroom and work records are kept for each apprentice.
- vi. Ensure that classroom records are kept for apprentices and submitted to the committee for review.
- vii. Consider and initiate contract actions for review and execution by the Bureau, including registration, cancellation, transfers, and completions.
- viii. Recommend credit for previous experience and education to the Bureau in conformity with Bureau policies and procedures.
- ix. Comply with all equal opportunity obligations and undertake affirmative action activities outlined in Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 296 and the program's affirmative action plan.
- x. Provide a forum for apprentices to bring complaints before the committee, and resolve when warranted. If an issue cannot be resolved, apprentices must be informed of their right to submit a complaint as outlined in Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 295.20. Develop policies related to layoff, assignment, attendance, discipline, affirmative action and equal opportunity, etc., when necessary for the administration of the apprenticeship programs.
- xi. The committee may appoint a representative as full-time apprenticeship coordinator who assumes responsibility and authority for operation of the apprentice training program as is delegated by the committee.

Industry Committee

An industry committee is a non-construction apprenticeship committee that operates an apprenticeship program on behalf of multiple employers, generally in the same sector or occupation. Industry committees

must abide by the all the sole sponsor committee duties, obligations and operations detailed in this section, in addition to the special consideration below:

- a) Provide advanced notice to the designated ATR of scheduled committee meetings; meetings are to be open for the ATR to attend, including virtually, and scheduled so as to avoid conflicts with the ATR's schedule.
- b) Recommendations for apprentice-related contract actions originating from the sponsor are finalized only at formal committee meetings or by a committee-designated apprenticeship coordinator. All recommendations are subject to review and final approval by the Bureau.
- c) Process apprentice applications in a timely manner.
- d) Review and recommend for approval or disapproval employer requests to train an apprentice. This recommendation must be within 40 days. If approval is recommended, the BAS may proceed with the preparation of the contracts. If, however, the committee recommends denial, the committee shall refer the employer to the BAS.²⁸
- e) Maintain records of each apprentice in the committee's program, such as apprentice applications, active apprentices, apprentice progress records, demographic data, affirmative action efforts, transfers, etc., and ensure the Bureau has ready access to those records.
- f) A committee must receive regular progress records for each apprentice from both the employer and the training provider. It is the committee's responsibility that adequate classroom and work records are kept for each apprentice.
- g) Review the status and progress of every apprentice prior to the end of the probationary period and recommend any appropriate action to the BAS. Information from employers and supervisors should be considered as part of each review, so that all viewpoints are available to the committee.
- h) Ensure the confidentiality of all information and matters brought forth before the committee, especially those related to apprentice performance, progress, and other sensitive matters.

Program Standards

In order to train apprentices in Wisconsin, all sponsors must have a set of written standards, which is approved by the Bureau, representing the terms and conditions of employment, training, and supervision of apprentices.²⁹ Apprenticeship program standards must adhere to:³⁰

- a. Universal minimum requirements, outlined either by state law, administrative rule, or Bureau policy, which are applicable to all programs, and
- b. State occupational standards adopted by the Bureau, usually based on recommendations from a State Apprenticeship Advisory Committee, for a given occupation.

Program standards must contain provisions addressing the following mandatory elements.³¹

1) Skilled Occupation

Standards must identify the skilled occupation, or occupations, in which apprentices will be trained.³² Each occupation must meet the criteria of an apprenticeable occupation.³³

2) Term of Apprenticeship

The sponsor must indicate, for each occupation, the basis for tracking apprentice progress: competency, time, or a hybrid. Regardless of the tracking method, an apprenticeship must entail at least one year of work experience and related instruction.³⁴

Competency-Based

The occupation must be approved for administration as a competency-based apprenticeship by U.S. DOL. If not, the sponsor must consult the Bureau to determine if it is suitable as a competency-based occupation. The program standards must detail:³⁵

- a. The on-the-job learning component of the apprenticeship program;
- b. The required competencies to be mastered during the apprenticeship;
- c. How demonstration of the competencies will be determined, including written and hands-on evaluations that occur in a controlled setting that permit accurate and verifiable results;
- d. The related instruction, which must comply with the apprenticeship statute, regulations, and rules.

Time-Based

The traditional method of apprenticeship delivery, consisting of at least 2,000 hours of on-the-job learning. This approach monitors an apprentice's progress through tasks described in a work process schedule for the occupation.³⁶

Hybrid

Measures skill attainment through a combination of a specified minimum number of hours of on-thejob learning and successful demonstration of competencies as described in Exhibit A to the apprenticeship contract.³⁷

3) Work Processes

²⁹ § DWD 295.02(2)(a)	
----------------------------------	--

³⁰ § DWD 295.02(2)

³² § DWD 295.02(2)(b)(1)
³³ § DWD 295.15
³⁴ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(1)

³⁵ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)3
 ³⁶ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)2
 ³⁷ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)4

³¹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)

Standards must contain a schedule of work processes associated with the apprenticeship occupation.³⁸ The work processes are an outline of supervised work experience that the apprentice will receive through on-the-job learning.

4) Related Instruction

The provision for organized, related and supplemental instruction relevant to the occupation must be outlined in the standards and include a minimum of 144 hours of paid related instruction per year for the first two years of the program. Programs which are longer than two years must have at least 400 hours of related instruction during the term of the apprenticeship.³⁹ Instruction may be delivered through the classroom, occupational or industry courses, electronic media, or other instruction approved by the Bureau. Instructors must meet educational and occupational requirements established by the Bureau and WTCS.⁴⁰

5) Progressive Wage Scale

Program's standards must clearly outline a progressive wage scale.⁴¹ The entry wage cannot be less than the minimum wage identified in the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, unless a higher wage is required under Wisconsin's wage and hour laws or by a collective bargaining agreement. The schedule of wages must progressively increase commensurate with skilled acquired by the apprentice.⁴² The apprentice wage must average at least 60 percent of the skilled wage rate over the course of the apprenticeship.⁴³

6) Progress Reviews and Recordkeeping

Sponsors are responsible for conducting periodic review and evaluation of apprentice work and educational progress and for maintaining apprentice related progress records. The method and frequency of these reviews will be detailed in the program standards.⁴⁴ Sponsors must review an apprentice's progress at least twice during the course of the apprenticeship terms, including once before the end of the probationary period.

7) Numeric Ratio Description

Program standards must identify a numeric ratio of apprentices to journeyworkers that is consistent with proper supervision, training, safety, and continuity of employment. The ratio language shall be specific as to its application to the job site, workforce, department, or plant.⁴⁵ The ratio shall not exceed one journeyworker per apprentice, except where a collective bargaining agreement applies, then the ratio prescribed in the agreement may be used.⁴⁶

8) Probationary Period

The length of the probationary period for the apprentice, in relation to the full apprenticeship term, must be designated in the program standards.⁴⁷ The probationary period cannot exceed 25 percent of the length of the program, or one year, whichever is shorter.

9) Statement of Safety

The program standards must include a statement regarding how the sponsor will ensure adequate and safe training for apprentices concerning equipment, facilities, on the job, and in related instruction.⁴⁸

10) Minimum Applicant Qualifications

- ³⁸ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)5
- ³⁹ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(b)
- ⁴⁰ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)6 ⁴¹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)7

⁴² 29 CFR § 29.5(8)
⁴³ § DWD 295.05(1)
⁴⁴ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)8
⁴⁵ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)9

⁴⁶ Wis. Stat. § 106.015(2)
 ⁴⁷ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)10
 ⁴⁸ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)11

The minimum qualifications for an apprentice applicant must be stated in the standards.⁴⁹ State apprenticeship regulations require that all apprentices be at least 16 years of age

11) Apprentice Contract

Programs must utilize a written apprenticeship contract, which meets the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 106.01.⁵⁰ The contract must incorporate by reference the complete apprenticeship program standards.

12) Advanced Standing or Credit

The program standards must contain provisions detailing the terms of awarding advanced standing or credit for demonstrated competency, experience, training, or skills in the occupation. ⁵¹ If advanced standing or credit is made available for applicants, it must be available to all applicants uniformly. The wages paid to apprentices awarded advanced standing must be in accordance with the program's schedule of wages.

13) Transfer Provisions

The program standards will outline the terms dictating transfer of an apprentice, either between apprenticeship programs or between employers within an apprenticeship program. A transfer must be based on agreement between the apprentice, affected sponsor(s), and the Bureau. The following must apply:

- i. The apprentice must be provided a transcript of related instruction and on-the-job learning by the committee or sponsor. When transferring between programs, the transcript must contain the comprehensive accomplishments, credits, and hours of training completed by the apprentice and form the basis for the new sponsor to award credit for the prior experience.
- ii. The transfer must be to the same occupation.
- A new apprenticeship contract must be executed when a transfer occurs between program iii. sponsors.⁵²

An apprentice who has completed probation before transferring to another employer within the same apprenticeship program cannot be required to undergo a new probationary period. If an apprentice has not completed the probationary period, then they will only need to complete the remaining probationary hours.

Where the apprentice is entering into a new apprenticeship agreement under a new sponsor, an additional probationary period may be required by the new sponsor. The period can be up to 25 percent of the remaining apprenticeship term, not to exceed one calendar year.⁵³

14) Apprentice Supervision

The program standards must include provisions for the assurance of qualified training personnel and adequate supervision of the apprentice on the job.⁵⁴ The employer must ensure that apprentices are trained in the core work processes for the occupation, and employ at least one full-time journeyworker, qualified supervisor, or other individual to oversee the training. This arrangement must be clear to the apprentice and the person responsible.

15) Completion Certificate

The program standards must include provisions related to the recognition of successful completion of the apprenticeship.⁵⁵ Initiation of the completion process is the responsibility of the sponsor, who must notify

- ⁴⁹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)12 ⁵⁰ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)13
- ⁵¹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)14

⁵² § DWD 295.02(2)(b)15.a-b ⁵³ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)10 ⁵⁴ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)16

55 § DWD 295.02(2)(b)17

the ATR when an apprentice has completed all terms of the contract (on-the-job-learning, paid related instruction, and any special provisions).

Meanwhile, the related instruction provider will verify that the apprentice has satisfactorily completed their related instruction. Once the request for completion is approved, a certificate of completion will be issued by the Bureau and notification sent to all parties of the contract.

16) Interim Credentials

In the case of competency- or hybrid-based programs, where a sponsor wishes to award interim credentials, those credentials must be identified in the standards.⁵⁶ Interim credentials are used to recognize attainment of competency in discrete components of an apprenticeable occupation.⁵⁷ The credential is ultimately issued by the Bureau upon request of the sponsor. The standards must:

- i. Clearly identify the type of interim credentials and demonstrate how they link to the knowledge, skills and abilities associated with components of the occupation;
- ii. Establish a process for assessing competency associated with each interim credential, through both written and hands-on evaluations.

17) Agency Identification

Program standards must clearly identify the apprenticeship registration agency, which in Wisconsin is Department of Workforce Development, Bureau of Apprenticeship Standards.⁵⁸

18) Program Registration, Cancellation & Modification

Program standards must contain provisions for the registration, cancellation, and deregistration of the program; along with prompt submission of any modification or amendment of the program standards to the Bureau for approval.⁵⁹ A copy of any Bureau-approved modification to the standards will be furnished to each affected apprentice. An existing apprentice contract affected by the amendment of standards will not be altered, unless all parties consent.

19) Contract Registration, Modification & Notice

Program standards must address the registration of apprentice agreements and their modification or amendment. Additionally, standards must state that proper notice will be given to the Bureau in the case of apprentice completion, transfer, unassignment, or cancellation, along with any justification and reason behind such action.⁶⁰

20) Probationary Contract Cancellation

Standards must state that cancellation of the contract during the probationary period can be executed by either party without a stated cause or justification. Doing so does not have an adverse impact on the sponsor's completion rate as it relates to regulatory oversight.⁶¹

21) Equal Opportunity Standards

All program standards must include a statement that the program will be operated and administered in conformity with state and federal apprenticeship equal opportunity and affirmative action provisions (detailed in Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 296 and 29 CFR 30). ⁶² The standards must also include:

- i. The most recent version of the Bureau's equal opportunity pledge, including the pledge prescribed in 29 C.F.R. § 30.3 and requirements of the Wisconsin Fair Employment Act;
- ii. An affirmative action plan, if applicable;

56 0 5 4 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	50 0 DUD 005 00 (0) (1) 00	
⁵⁶ § DWD 295.001(11)	⁵⁹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)20	⁶² § DWD 296.10(1)
⁵⁷ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)18	⁶⁰ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)21	
⁵⁸ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)19	⁶¹ § DWD 295.02(2)(b)22	

iii. A procedure for apprentice selection that conforms with Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 296.10 and explains in detail the methods utilized by the sponsor in choosing apprentices for program openings.

22) Complaint Procedures & Contacts

Standards must include the contact information, including name, address, telephone number and email address, for the appropriate individual with authority under the program to receive, process and resolve complaints.⁶³

23) Recordkeeping

The program standards must address the preservation and maintenance of all records within the apprenticeship program concerning apprenticeship, as required by the Bureau and applicable regulations.⁶⁴

Contract

The apprenticeship contract details the stipulations of the apprenticeship training program and incorporates the program standards by reference. The contract must be agreed to and signed by the sponsor, the director of the Bureau (on behalf of the Department), and the apprentice (or in the case of a minor, the parent or guardian).⁶⁵ The terms of each apprentice contract are not valid unless approved by the Bureau.⁶⁶ The Bureau generates each contract. The contract face template, used by the Bureau, is in accordance with Wis. Admin. § 295.07.

Exhibit A

Each apprenticeship contract will include a document designated as "Exhibit A." An Exhibit A is developed for each occupation associated with a program sponsor and included in the program standards. The Bureau approves the content of the Exhibit A through its authority to set local and state apprenticeship standards.⁶⁷ The Exhibit A contains a synopsis of the following terms of the apprenticeship, as approved by the Bureau, and in accordance with the program standards and Wis. Admin. § 295.07.

Term of apprenticeship

The term may be based on competency, time, or a hybrid of the two. If time-based, then the number of years and hours necessary to complete the apprenticeship program are stated. If competency based, the Exhibit A includes a description of the skills to be attained and any on-the-job learning component. A hybrid program will state the number of hours to be spent by the apprentice on the job along with a description of the skills to be attained.⁶⁸

Probationary period

The period and terms of the probationary period, which can either be expressed in hours or months.⁶⁹

School attendance

The hours or related instruction and the related instruction provider.⁷⁰

Work process schedule

The basic job tasks of the apprenticeship program. For a time-based program, the approximate time the apprentice will spend on each work process. For a competency-based program, a description of the skill sets to be attained. A hybrid program will contain a combination of both. The schedule must be comprehensive enough to reflect the intent to train the apprentice in all primary job tasks of the related occupation. The schedule need not be followed in the sequence outlined in the Exhibit A.⁷¹

Minimum compensation to be paid

The graduated wage scale to be paid to the apprentice and the number of paid related instruction hours.⁷²

65 § DWD 295.07(3)(a)	⁶⁸ § DWD 295.07(3)(e)1	⁷¹ § DWD 295.07(3)(f)
⁶⁶ § DWD 295.07(1-2)	⁶⁹ § DWD 295.07(3)(h)1	⁷² § DWD 295.07(3)(g)
⁶⁷ § DWD 295.02(1)	⁷⁰ § DWD 295.07(3)(e)2	

Credit provisions

A description of any advanced standing work or education credit awarded to an apprentice and the wage commensurate with that advanced standing.⁷³

Special provisions

The special provisions describe additional stipulations or requirements of the apprenticeship program not contained elsewhere in the apprentice contract. For example, this section may detail additional unpaid instructional hours that the apprentice is required to take on their own time, required industry or employer certifications, training courses mandated by the Bureau (e.g., Transition to Trainer, Red Cross First Aid & CPR), tool purchase commitments on the part of either party, or bonuses paid to apprentices.

Contract Completion

To complete the apprenticeship program, apprentices must satisfy the work, competency, and related instruction requirements, as well as any special provisions, outlined in their contract. Before issuing a completion certificate to the apprentice, BAS will verify that the apprentice has satisfactorily completed all contract requirements.

Minor Apprentices

Any person 16 years of age or older may enter into an apprentice contract. For an apprentice who has not reached 18 years of age, a parent or legal guardian must approve of and sign the apprentice contract. If there is no guardian, a deputy of the Department may sign the contract.⁷⁴

Minors are generally prohibited from employment in occupations deemed hazardous under Wis. Admin. DWD § 270.12, but minors performing service within the provisions of an apprenticeship contract registered with the Department are exempted from those prohibitions.⁷⁵ However, minor apprentices are not exempted from all child labor protections. For example, minor apprentices are still subject to the restrictions on the number of hours of labor they may perform.⁷⁶

Similarly, federal law provides workplace protections for minors, such as prohibitions against engaging in the hazardous occupations enumerated under 29 CFR §§ 570.51-570.68. There are some exemptions from these prohibitions for minor apprentices who are registered with the Department or DOL and which meet certain criteria as outlined in the federal requirements.⁷⁷

High School Seniors

High school students are only eligible to become part of an apprentice contract if they are at least 16 years old, enrolled in grade 12 of a public school, and meet a number of special conditions. High school applicants must meet the applicable minimum qualifications to be an apprentice in that occupation, with the exception of a high school diploma or equivalency requirement, as long as the high school they attend does the following:

- i. Certifies that the student is expected to graduate by the end of the current school year;
- ii. Certifies that the apprenticeship training schedule will not adversely affect the student's graduation;
- iii. Agrees to award high school credit for the student's related instruction during the first year of the apprenticeship;
- iv. Agrees to award high school credit to the student for on-the-job training completed during the first year of the apprenticeship.⁷⁸

In addition, the employer must agree to employ the high school apprentice on a part-time basis during periods when school is in session throughout the first year of the apprentice contract. At a minimum, the student must complete at least 450 hours of on-the-job training during that first year while maintaining their status as an active high school student.⁷⁹ No later than one year after the apprenticeship term begins, the student must furnish proof of high school graduation or equivalency, at which point they must transition to full-time employment consistent with the standard apprenticeship work expectations for that occupation.⁸⁰

⁷⁹ Wis. Stat. § 106.07(3)(a)

⁸⁰ Wis. Stat. § 106.07(4)

⁷⁴ Wis. Stat. §v106.01(1)

⁷⁵ DWD § 270.14(1)

⁷⁶ DWD § 270.11

⁷⁷ 29 CFR § 570.50(b)

⁷⁸ Wis. Stat. § 106.07(2)(a-d)

Apprentice Selection Procedures

A selection procedure is considered any measure, combination of measures, or procedure used as a basis for entry into a registered apprenticeship program. These procedures may entail traditional paper and pencil tests, performance tests, training programs, educational and work experience requirements, physical requirements, interviews, or application forms. A sponsor's procedures for the selection of apprentices are included in the written plan for standards of apprenticeship submitted to and approved by the department under § DWD 295.02.⁸¹

A sponsor may utilize any method, or combination of methods, for selection of apprentices if the selection method meets the requirements under 29 CFR § 30.10(b) and does not violate Wisconsin's fair employment laws. This means, the selection process must:

- i. Be uniformly and consistently applied to all applicants and apprentices within each selection procedure utilized.⁸²
- ii. Not discriminate in regard to an applicant's race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age (40 or older), genetic information, disability, conviction or arrest record, marital status, or membership in the armed forces.⁸³
- iii. Comply with the federal Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures (UGESP), which requires the sponsor to evaluate the impact of the selection procedure on race, sex, and ethnic groups and to demonstrate job-relatedness and business necessity for selection procedures that result in adverse impact in accordance with UGESP.⁸⁴
- iv. Comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, meaning it must not screen out or tend to screen out an individual with a disability or a class of individuals with a disability, unless the selection criteria is shown to be job-related for the position in question and is consistent with business necessity.⁸⁵

Common selection procedures include, but need not be limited to:

- First-come, first-served (of eligible applicants);
- Rank order based on scores from one or more qualification standard;
- Random selection from pool of eligible applicants;
- Selection from pool of current employees; and
- Direct entry into the apprenticeship program.

Sponsors may elect to utilize multiple selection procedures in their program, for example incorporating a direct-entry method to their standard selection method in order to integrate underutilized populations from a certified pre-apprenticeship program, Job Corps graduates, or veterans from qualifying military occupations or training programs.

Sponsors should maintain records or other information which will disclose the impact which its selection procedures have upon employment opportunities of persons by identifiable race, sex, or ethnic groups. See the federal Uniform Guidelines on Employee Selection Procedures (41 CFR § 60.3) for additional information.⁸⁶

⁸¹ § DWD 296.10(1)	
⁸² 29 CFR § 30.10(b)(2)	

⁸⁴ 29 CFR § 30.10(b)(1) ⁸⁴ 29 CFR § 30.10(b)(1) ⁸⁵ 29 CFR § 30.10(b)(3)
⁸⁶ 41 CFR § 60-3.4A

Application Forms

Sponsors must use the Bureau's standardized apprentice application form and its attachments, or utilize an acceptable alternative that attempts to gather, at a minimum, the information gathered in the standardized form and its attachments.⁸⁷ The apprentice application form attachments include:

- a) Voluntary EEO Form
- b) Voluntary Disability Disclosure Form (for sponsors with affirmative action programs only)⁸⁸

Family-Owned Construction Business

An owner of a construction business which is owned by one person or jointly by two persons related by blood or marriage may select a son or daughter for an apprenticeship opening provided they meet the qualifications for the trade, and the business has met the requirements for training apprentices.⁸⁹ The son or daughter may then be registered as an apprentice, without regard to a program's selection procedures. This cannot be used to displace an apprentice already registered to that business and must not conflict with a collective bargaining agreement affecting the business.⁹⁰

Home Schooled Applicants

A sponsor may require an apprentice applicant to present a high school diploma or its equivalent, in accordance with statewide occupational standards set by the Bureau. For a home-schooled applicant, the Bureau's policy is as follows:

Wisconsin

For applicants that completed instruction in a home schooling program in Wisconsin, the applicant must provide Form PI-1206 for each year of enrollment and proof of completion, such a transcript and home-issued diploma.

Out of State

For applicants in a home schooling program in another state, they must present proof of completion of a secondary school education in a home school setting that complies with the state law of the state in which such program was completed.

If the applicant is unable to provide acceptable documentation, that individual is treated as any other applicant who is unable to provide documentation of a high school diploma or equivalency.

Apprentice Compensation

Hours of Work

Apprentices are to be employed as full-time employees and assigned the same number of hours as skilled workers in the same trade, up to 55 hours per week. Because successful completion of an apprenticeship requires a major commitment from both the apprentice and the employer, the Bureau will not approve any apprenticeship program or contract that provides for less than full-time employment, except in the case of high school apprentices or other extenuating circumstances.

Apprentice Wages

The apprentice wages must average at least 60 percent of the journeyworker or skilled wage rate over the term of the apprenticeship, and no apprentice can be paid less than the applicable state or federal minimum wage.91

The contract must provide for a progressive schedule for wage increases over its term.⁹² A common method used to present the apprentice wage schedule in the contract is to connect it to the skilled wage, typically as a percentage. This automatically accounts for adjustment to the apprenticeship wage in the event that the skilled wage changes. When the apprentice wage is governed by a bargaining agreement, that agreement governs and supersedes the apprentice contract.93

Related Instruction

Apprentices are to be paid their regular wages during paid related instruction. Apprentices must be paid for the minimum number of related instruction hours, or the related instruction hours specific in the contract, whichever is greater.⁹⁴ The employer may require an apprentice to take additional instruction on their own time, unpaid.95 Any unpaid related instruction associated with the apprenticeship program must be referenced in the Exhibit A under the special provisions section. Unpaid instruction may only be incorporated after the availability of the required paid hours of related instruction is assured.

Skilled Wage Rate

In establishing the skilled wage rate for the construction sector, where a collective bargaining agreement exists, the rate specified in the agreement applies.⁹⁶ However, in the construction sector, when a bargaining agreement does not apply, the Bureau uses wage data as the basis for establishing the skilled rate. The wage rate is based on an average (mean) of the wage data collected for that occupation and organized by geographical area of the appropriate local committee. The Bureau will not normally approve a skilled rate for apprenticeship purposes more than 20 percent below the journeyworker rate in the area. Because of varied geographical jurisdictions, the skilled wages for the same trades and occupations may differ. The Bureau reviews the skilled wage rate annually and adjusts it accordingly.

Similarly, in other industry sectors where collective bargaining is undertaken for an individual program, such as for a sole sponsor, the skilled wage rate established in that agreement applies. When a bargaining agreement does not exist to establish a skilled wage rate for an individual program, the skilled wage rate is calculated by rate paid to the greatest number of competent journeyworkers in that establishment.⁹⁷

- 91 § DWD 295.05(1) 92 § DWD 295.05(1)
- ⁹³ § DWD 295.06(1)

⁹⁴ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(a) ⁹⁵ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(c) ⁹⁶ § DWD 295.05(2)

⁹⁷ § DWD 295.05(3)

Overtime Pay

Apprentices are permitted to work overtime.⁹⁸ However, the total number of hours of related instruction and work that a sponsor may assign to an apprentice must not exceed 55 in a given week.⁹⁹ In addition, the sponsor and employer must consider if quality training can be maintained or if the apprentice's progress in the apprenticeship program is adversely impacted when determining the extent to which to assign overtime work.

If the apprentice works overtime, their rate of pay must increase by the same percentage as the journeyworker's rate of pay increases during overtime work in the same industry or establishment.¹⁰⁰ For example, if a journeyworker's rate for overtime is time and one-half (150 percent) or double time (200 percent), then an apprentice's rate must increase by the same percentage.

Related Instruction Overtime Exemption

Generally speaking, Wisconsin's wage and hour regulations dictate that employees must be paid at least time and one-half for hours worked in excess of 40 in a week.¹⁰¹ However, time spent attending related instruction need not be counted as work time for the purpose of computing overtime, unless required by an applicable bargaining agreement.¹⁰²

Fringe Benefits

Any fringe benefits paid to employees of the employer in the same job occupation as the apprentice must also be paid to the apprentice. This policy does not mean the same level of benefits must be provided to apprentices as fellow employees, but the same type of benefits must be available.

¹⁰⁰ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(7) ¹⁰¹ § DWD 275.03 ¹⁰² § DWD 274.04(6)

Prior Work and Education Credit

Apprentices may be eligible for credit for both prior work experience and related instruction. Apprenticeship contracts, in the Exhibit A, must contain a statement of any advanced standing awarded to the apprentice.¹⁰³ If the application of any prior credit advances the apprentice to a higher wage, then that wage must be applied.

Registered Apprenticeship Credit

Progress achieved by the apprentice, in both work and related instruction, under a previous Wisconsin registered apprentice contract in a commensurate occupation must be recognized under the new contract and awarded to the apprentice. This credit (unless denied) must be applied at the beginning of the contract. Parties may petition the Bureau (generally through the assigned ATR) if they seek an exception to this policy, such as for extenuating circumstances. Such a requests must be made in writing and contain a clear explanation as to the basis for the exception. The Bureau will make the final determination in awarding past apprenticeship credit to apprentices.

Work Credit

Apprentices may be granted credit for previous work experience associated directly with the occupation. Such credit should only reflect actual work time or training in the occupation. Credit may be awarded for up to, but not including, the final year of the term of apprenticeship. Credit should be granted prior to the end of the probationary period, or at least as soon as a proper evaluation can be made of the credit request. Work credit requests must be in writing to, and approved by, the Bureau (generally through the assigned ATR).

Paid Related Instruction Credit

The apprentice may request credit for paid related instruction from the sponsor. If the sponsor recommends advanced standing for paid related instruction, the Bureau will contact the provider of related instruction to conduct an assessment of the apprentice's previous school experience. This assessment may consist of a comparison between the apprentice's past educational transcript or experience with the approved related instruction curriculum, or a test may be used for evaluation of the apprentice's educational attainment.

The provider of related instruction will notify the Bureau once the assessment or evaluation is completed. If advanced standing is recommended by the related instruction provider, the Bureau will apply the awarded hours as credit toward the apprentice's contract completion and notify the provider of related instruction, the apprentice sponsor, and the apprentice of this action. If the application of the credit advances the apprentice to a higher wage, then that wage must be applied by the employer. If the Bureau does not award credit toward the apprentice's contract, it will notify the parties involved of this determination.

Unpaid Related Instruction Credit

The apprentice or sponsor may also request credit for unpaid related instruction. However, in the case of unpaid related instruction, the sponsor may recommend directly to the Bureau an award of prior credit for the apprentice, without the recommendation of the related instruction provider. The sponsor may choose to request assistance from the provider of related instruction to assess the related schooling. The Bureau

¹⁰³ § DWD 295.07(3)(L)

will notify the provider of related instruction, the apprentice sponsor, and the apprentice whether or not credit will be given for unpaid related instruction.

Related Instruction

Related instruction is "an organized and systematic form of instruction designed to provide the apprentice with the knowledge of the theoretical and technical subjects related to the apprentice's occupation."¹⁰⁴ It is a required component of every registered apprenticeship training program.¹⁰⁵

Under the Wisconsin apprenticeship model, related instruction falls into two categories, paid and unpaid.

Paid Related Instruction

During paid related instruction, employers compensate apprentices at their standard rate of pay.¹⁰⁶ If the apprenticeship is for two years or less, 144 hours of paid related instruction is required per year.¹⁰⁷ If the apprenticeship is longer than two years, then the paid related instruction must not be less than 400 hours during the term of apprenticeship.¹⁰⁸ However, it is allowable for related instruction to exceed these statutory minimums.

It is the employer's responsibility, in coordination with the apprenticeship program sponsor and related instruction provider, to see that apprentices are released from work to attend their required related instruction. Failure to allow an apprentice to attend related instruction is in violation of the apprenticeship contract.

Unpaid Related Instruction

The apprentice and the program sponsor may enter into an agreement requiring that the apprentice take additional unpaid instruction on the apprentice's own time in excess of the number of paid related instruction hours required by law.¹⁰⁹ Unpaid related instruction is often used to fill in additional technical subjects not covered in the regular curriculum. This type of agreement is outlined in the special provisions section of the apprentice contract.

Curriculum

Related instruction may include two categories of curriculum: publicly developed and proprietary.

Publicly developed curriculum

Publicly developed curriculum is developed by the Wisconsin Technical College System and Bureau of Apprenticeship standards. It specifies program outcomes and core competencies that will be consistent regardless of location, instructor, program type, or sponsor. It is approved by the Wisconsin Technical College System Board (footnote: Wis. Stat. § 38.001)

Proprietary curriculum

Proprietary curriculum is developed and owned by one or more private entities, commonly an industry organization or labor union, and is available to participating employers only. Where provided by direction of the State Advisory Committee or sole sponsor, proprietary curricula will be delivered in a manner consistent with its design and format.

¹⁰⁶ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(a) ¹⁰⁷ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(b) ¹⁰⁸ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(b) ¹⁰⁹ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(c)

¹⁰⁴ § DWD 295.001(20) ¹⁰⁵ § DWD 295.15(2)(d)

Curriculum Approval

All apprenticeship curriculum is subject to review and approval by the Bureau. Any curriculum changes, additions, or deletions must be approved by the Bureau. The Bureau will seek input from industry advisory committees established by the Bureau, the Wisconsin Technical College System, or the provider of related instruction.

As long as the instructional program outcomes and competencies are achieved, curriculum within an occupation may vary by teaching and assessment techniques, classroom resources, and learning plans, which are at the discretion of the related instruction provider and instructor. When modifying proprietary curriculum, any changes, additions, or deletions must be approved by the program sponsor prior to implementation. Instructors and apprenticeship coordinators must provide the program sponsor notice in writing no later than 30 days prior to any proposed changes to the apprenticeship curriculum. Areas of concern to be addressed are proposed changes to class size, stacked classes, instructors, classroom location, classroom equipment, curriculum, and instructional methodology.

All proprietary materials, including text and workbooks, handouts, and exams remain the property of the sponsor. Directions as to the disposition of these materials will be provided to the school by the sponsor. Every effort will be made to comply with the sponsor's vision regarding the curriculum.

Related Instruction Providers

The Wisconsin Technical College System is the primary provider of paid related instruction in the state. The Bureau may approve related instruction providers outside of the Wisconsin Technical College System. Thus, employers and sponsors have three options for related instruction providers:

WTCS Facility and Instructor

Paid related instruction for most apprenticeships is provided at a Wisconsin technical college by Wisconsin technical college instructors. Apprentices registered with the Bureau and enrolled in WTCS apprentice-related instruction courses qualify for Wisconsin resident tuition and material fee rates. Non-apprentices are prohibited from enrolling in apprentice technical instruction courses. Specific procedures for the delivery of apprentice-related technical instruction are detailed in Section 6.10 of the <u>WTCS Educational Services Manual</u>.

Non-WTCS Training Facility and WTCS Instructor

The employer or sponsor may request to provide related instruction at an in-house training facility or sponsor training center and contract with a WTCS instructor to teach the curriculum.

Non-WTCS Training Facility and Instructor

The employer or sponsor may request to provide related instruction at an in-house training facility or sponsor training center using non-WTCS instructors.

Requesting non-WTCS Related Instruction

The Bureau must approve all requests to provide related instruction outside of the WTCS prior to implementation and the onset of instruction. BAS must inspect all non-WTCS training facilities and review the curriculum, instructor qualifications, and administrative and record-keeping procedures.

Current programs or sponsors that want to change related instruction from a WTCS facility to a non-WTCS facility must submit a request to the Bureau and the local technical college district's apprenticeship coordinator before March 1 for the upcoming school year.

New programs or sponsors that want to begin related instruction at a non-WTCS facility must notify the Bureau and receive approval prior to the implementation of the program and onset of instruction.

If a program or sponsor, current or new, requests a non-WTCS training facility and a WTCS instructor, the Bureau must review and approve the partnership agreement between the program or sponsor and local WTCS campus.

Non-WTCS training facilities must maintain labor neutrality: union or employer association activities are not permitted at the training center during while classes are in session; an entrance must exist that is separate from any union or employer association offices; and no union or employer association materials are permitted.

Instructor Certification

All instructors who teach apprentices in the technical subjects related to their occupation are required to possess specific educational training, apart from the experience or knowledge they may possess in that field of study or trade.

WTCS Instructors

Each person employed by a local technical college district responsible for the delivery of classroom instruction, or assisting in the management, of one or more apprenticeship programs shall obtain instructional certification through the WTCS board.

Non-WTCS Instructors

Instructors not employed by WTCS must be subject matter experts with at least seven years of experience in the specific occupational and must have taken the 30-hour, WTCS-delivered teaching methods and technology course or equivalent. If the instructor does not have training in teaching techniques and adult learning styles before the instructor has started to teach apprentices, these required classes must occur within two years of the onset of those initial classes. The Bureau will assess each instructor's qualifications and maintain the records of instructor qualifications.

Generally, in Wisconsin, any technical subjects taught as part of the apprenticeship are incorporated into the program as paid related instruction. However, there may be some instances when the technical subjects, part of core courses or curriculum, may be delivered as unpaid related instruction. In which case, instructors who provide unpaid technical instruction for the apprenticeship program are also required to possess or obtain specific educational training.

Paid Related Instruction Delivery

Apprentices must receive at least four hours of classroom instruction per week, or the equivalent, during each week that the designated school providing instruction for the program is in session.¹¹⁰ This allows program sponsors to design their apprentice instruction for four hours per week, one day per week, one day every other week, or in a block of time. Regardless, the total number of hours of related instruction and work assigned to an apprentice in one week may not exceed 55 hours.¹¹¹

The delivery method of paid related instruction for each program is determined by the sponsor and the related instruction provider, in consultation with an industry advisory committee when appropriate, and subject to the approval of the Bureau.

¹¹⁰ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(b)

¹¹¹ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(b)

Attendance and Progress

Related instruction providers must submit reports on the attendance and grades of each apprentice to the Bureau and the apprentice sponsor.¹¹² The employer or sponsor should address notices of any school absence by an apprentice and caution the apprentice that absence from school may lead to termination of the apprenticeship contract. In addition, the employer or sponsor should address deficiencies in the apprentice's school assignments and grades and notify the apprentice that discipline or termination may occur if such deficiencies are not corrected.

¹¹² Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(d)

Apprenticeship Completion Award Program

The Apprenticeship Completion Award Program (ACAP) reimburses apprentices and sponsors for tuition costs associated with related instruction.¹¹³

Qualifying Expenses

Tuition costs are defined as any fee that is charged for an apprentice to participate in their related instruction.¹¹⁴ This includes tuition as well as fees such as apprentice materials fees, insurance fees, and student ID fees.

The following expenses are ineligible for reimbursement:

- i. Work related costs (clothing, safety equipment, union dues or initiation fees, commuting costs).
- ii. Education expenses not related to apprenticeship related instruction
- iii. Class materials: i.e., books, notebooks, class supplies
- iv. Journey worker or practitioner exam fees
- v. Parking fees or transcript fees
- vi. Paid related instruction wages paid by the employer
- vii. Licenses and credentials
- viii. Expenses incurred outside of the contract period

Reimbursement

The reimbursement is awarded to the entity or individual who incurred the cost of the related instruction tuition, which can be the sponsor, the apprentice, or both.¹¹⁵ When both the sponsor and apprentice incurred tuition costs, the reimbursement will be made proportionally to the amount incurred. However, the \$1,000 cap applies to both the sponsor and apprentice reimbursement collectively.

Note: public sector sponsors are excluded from receiving ACAP reimbursements by law.¹¹⁶

There are two times during the apprenticeship contract when a tuition reimbursement can be claimed.

- a) *First year:* Upon successful completion of the first year of the registered apprenticeship program, a reimbursement can be claimed of 25 percent of tuition costs incurred, up to \$250.¹¹⁷
- b) Completion: Upon successful completion of the registered apprenticeship program, a reimbursement can be claimed of 25 percent of tuition costs incurred, up to \$1,000 (including any first-year reimbursement received).¹¹⁸

Notification

The Bureau will notify all parties of their ACAP eligibility by correspondence after the first year and again upon completion of the apprenticeship program. ACAP applications must be submitted within 60 days of the ACAP eligibility notification date. If an application is received after 60 days of the eligibility notification, the Bureau cannot guarantee payment of an award.¹¹⁹

Funding Availability

The Bureau awards ACAP payments on a first-come, first-serve basis throughout each fiscal year (July 1 through June 30). Applicants who receive their eligibility notices after the point in which ACAP funding has been exhausted for the fiscal year, will not receive an award.¹²⁰

¹¹³ Wis. Stat. § 106.05(2)	¹¹⁶ § DWD 295.25(1)(a)	¹¹⁹ § DWD 295.25(3)(c)
¹¹⁴ Wis. Stat. § 106.05(1)(b)	¹¹⁷ § DWD 295.25(5)(b)	¹²⁰ § DWD 295.25(5)(d)
¹¹⁵ § DWD 295.25(3)	¹¹⁸ § DWD 295.25(5)(a)	

Child Support

Apprentices who are delinquent on child support payments are disqualified from receiving ACAP reimbursements, unless the applicant can furnish:

- i. Proof of an acceptable repayment agreement, approved by the county child support agency that has been kept current for the six months preceding the ACAP application; or
- ii. A statement from the Department of Children and Families, dated within seven working days of the ACAP application, that the applicant is not delinquent on child support and does not owe past expenses.¹²¹

The sponsors of ineligible apprentices, which incurred the costs of related instruction, are allowed to receive ACAP reimbursements associated with the contract of the ineligible apprentice.

Application

Applicants must submit a completed ACAP form to the Bureau, along with a W-9 form and the following documentation of tuition expenditures:

- a) Receipts from registrars and proof of payment.
- b) Sponsor invoice, and proof of payment to apprentice for reimbursement amounts, direct school payment receipts, and school paid letter receipts
- c) Confirmation from the sponsor stating that the apprentice has completed either the first year under the apprenticeship contract, or has successfully completed the full apprenticeship contract
- d) Copies of bank statements or credit card statements reflecting tuition invoice payments

Unacceptable documentation of tuition expenditures:

- a) Pictures of documents, such as taken from a cell phone
- b) Pictures from internal financial software
- c) Copies of cash register receipts indicating charges
- d) Company letters stating reimbursement policies
- e) Copies of check registers
- f) Invoices without proof of payment

¹²¹ Wis. Stat. § 106.05(3)(b)

Recordkeeping

Sponsors must maintain apprenticeship records necessary to demonstrate compliance with federal equal employment opportunity standards for a period of five years from the date that the record was created or the date of the relevant personnel action, whichever is later.¹²² Other laws may govern the retention of other apprenticeship records. Sponsors must coordinate with related instruction providers and apprentice employers (if separate from the sponsor) to ensure the maintenance and preservation of vital apprenticeship records not held directly by the sponsor. Apprenticeship records include, but may not be limited to:

For All Sponsors

- i. Training records should include hours of on-the-job learning by category and competency, paid and unpaid related instruction hours, and progress at both school and on the job.
- ii. Records related to apprentice selection, including applications, tests and test results, interview notes, and the justification for selection or rejection of each applicant
- iii. Attendance logs for the periodic equal opportunity information sessions;
- iv. Proof that the equal opportunity pledge has been appropriately published and posted;
- v. Records indicating each individual's completion of anti-harassment training and the training's content;
- vi. A copy of the program's universal outreach and recruitment sources;
- vii. Apprentice or applicant requests for reasonable accommodation;
- viii. Copies of apprentice-related complaints of unlawful harassment or discrimination submitted to the sponsor;
- ix. Demographic data for apprentices and applicants (race, ethnicity, and gender), using the Bureau's equal opportunity supplemental form as a template;
- x. Information concerning the operation of the apprenticeship program, including job assignment, promotion, demotion, layoff or termination, discipline, rate of pay and other forms of compensation or conditions of work, hours of training provided and other records pertinent to a determination of compliance;
- xi. Apprentice transfers and reassignments;
- xii. Active apprentice rolls.

Sponsors with Affirmative Action Programs

- xiii. Documentation of the sponsor's targeted outreach, recruitment, and retention activities;
- xiv. Completed disability disclosure forms submitted to the sponsor;
- xv. Records related to the annual review of personnel processes;
- xvi. Copies of the workforce analysis (if not conducted with assistance from the Bureau);
- xvii. Detailed notes or log from meetings where affirmative action is discussed as an agenda item.

Note: In connection with each compliance record, sponsors must identify the race, sex, ethnicity, and, when known, the disability status of each apprentice and apprentice applicant.¹²³

Record Access

Sponsors must allow the Bureau access to all apprenticeship records and provide them in an electronic format if requested.¹²⁴ Records should be submitted within 10 business days of the request. Non-compliance may result in a corrective action plan, suspension, or deregistration.

¹²³ § DWD 296.12(2)

¹²⁴ § DWD 296.12(6)

Related Instruction Records

The provider of related instruction must maintain registration, attendance, progress, and grade records for each apprentice, as certified by the classroom or training instructor. Records of related instruction must be maintained for at least five years from the most recent action or active date of the apprentice, except for apprentice transcripts which must be kept indefinitely.

Apprentice records must be made available to the Bureau and the signatories of the apprentice's contract.¹²⁵ The apprentice's signature on the contract authorizes the assigned provider of paid and unpaid related instruction to release progress, grades, and attendance reports to the Bureau, sponsor, and employer while the contract is in effect.

The Bureau, the employer of record, or the applicable apprenticeship committee must be provided with timely and regular reports on attendance, progress, and grades on each apprentice as requested. The terms and manner of exchanging such reports may be mutually agreed on between the related instruction provider and the apprenticeship committee or the sponsor.

¹²⁵ Wis. Stat. § 106.01(6)(d)

Equal Opportunity

All registered apprenticeship sponsors in the state of Wisconsin, regardless of the size of the program, are required to comply with state and federal affirmative action and equal opportunity requirements.

Unlawful Discrimination

Registered apprenticeship regulations explicitly prohibit discrimination on the basis of:

a) race,

d) national origin,

b) color,

e) sex,

c) religion,

- f) sexual orientation,
- g) age (40 or older),
- h) genetic information, or
- i) disability.
- Additionally, Wisconsin employment laws prohibit discrimination on the basis of:
- a) conviction record,
 - d) veteran status,e) use of lawful products,
- f) use of qualifying family or medical leave.

b) arrest record,c) marital status,

Assignment of Responsibility

Each apprenticeship sponsor must designate an individual within the apprenticeship program to oversee equal opportunity compliance, including recordkeeping and submitting reports to the Bureau when necessary.¹²⁶

The sponsor should notify the Bureau within 10 days if the individual vacates their position or is otherwise unable to complete their duties.

Universal Outreach and Recruitment

Sponsors must ensure that universal outreach and recruitment efforts are undertaken annually and in anticipation of each apprenticeship opening and job announcement. Accordingly, each program must develop a list of recruitment sources to reach and generate referrals from all demographic groups in the sponsor's *relevant recruitment area* and update the list annually.¹²⁷ Sponsor's must provide these entities advance notice, preferably 30 days, of any apprenticeship opportunities or job announcements.¹²⁸ This notice shall include documentation of the sponsor's equal opportunity pledge.

Relevant Recruitment Area is defined as the geographical area from which the sponsor usually seeks or reasonably could seek apprentices. Programs that exclusively recruit and select apprentices from their incumbent workforce, should disseminate information about the apprenticeship program and pertinent opportunity announcements to all internal recruitment pools and potential applicants.

The recruitment list maintained by the sponsor must contain each referral source's name, mailing address, telephone number and email address.¹²⁹ Examples of recruitment sources include local workforce investment boards, job centers, high-schools, social media platforms, internet-based jobsites, community-based organizations, local technical and community colleges, vocational training programs, pre-apprenticeship programs and federal youth job training programs.

¹²⁸ § DWD 296.03(2)(c)3 ¹²⁹ § DWD 296.03(2)(c)2

¹²⁶ § DWD 296.03(2)(a)1-3

¹²⁷ § DWD 296.03(2)(c)1

Harassment, Intimidation and Retaliation

Each sponsor must:

- i. Develop and implement procedures to receive and resolve complaints about harassment and intimidation on the basis of membership in a protected class, and complaints about retaliation against any applicant or apprentice for filing a harassment complaint, opposing harassment or intimidation, or participating in an investigation or other proceeding related to equal opportunity laws.¹³⁰
- i. Provide anti-harassment training to all individuals administering the apprenticeship program, including apprentices and journeyworkers who train them. Sponsors are encouraged to use the anti-harassment training materials available through DOL. If sponsors opt to use their own anti-harassment training it must meet the criteria in § DWD 296.03(2)(d)1(a.-c.)
- ii. Ensure all facilities and apprenticeship activities are available to all apprentices. However, if a sponsor provides restrooms or changing facilities, they must provide separate or single-user restrooms and changing facilities for privacy between sexes.¹³¹

Dissemination of Equal Opportunity Policy

Each sponsor must inform apprentice applicants, apprentices, and individuals associated with the administration and operation of the apprenticeship program of its commitment to equal opportunity. The sponsor must ensure and aid the sponsor in meeting its nondiscrimination and affirmative action obligations.¹³²

The sponsor must guarantee completion of the following activities:

- i. Publish the equal opportunity pledge in its standards of apprenticeship as well as in apprentice and employee handbooks, policy manuals, newsletters, or other documents circulated by the sponsor related to the apprenticeship program.¹³³
- ii. Post the equal opportunity pledge on bulletin boards, including through electronic media, or any other location accessible to all apprentices and applicants for apprenticeship.¹³⁴
- iii. Conduct orientation and periodic information sessions, at least once per year, for individuals connected with the administration and operation of the apprenticeship program, including apprentices and journeyworkers who regularly work with apprentices.

¹³⁰ § DWD 296.03(2)(d)3
 ¹³¹ § DWD 296.03(2)(d)2

¹³² § DWD 296.03(2)(b)
¹³³ § DWD 296.03(2)(b)1

134 § DWD 296.03(2)(b)2

Affirmative Action Plan

Registered apprenticeship programs that contain five or more apprentices must prepare and maintain a written affirmative plan outlining their affirmative action program (unless the sponsor can provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with an existing federal affirmative action plan described in 29 CFR§ 30.4(d)(2)).¹³⁵

A complete affirmative action program for a sponsor must contains six key components.¹³⁶ Sponsors may use the Bureau's affirmative action template for completing their written plan, or use their own template so long as it contains the mandatory elements of an affirmative action plan. Newly certified apprenticeship programs must complete a written affirmative action plan within two years of registration with the Bureau.¹³⁷ The six components of a written plan are:

- 1. Invitations to disclose a disability.
- 2. Utilization goals for individuals with disabilities;
- 3. Utilization analysis for race, sex, and ethnicity;
- 4. Establishment of utilization goals for race, sex, and ethnicity;
- 5. Targeted outreach, recruitment, and retention activities;
- 6. Annual review of personnel processes. ¹³⁸

1. Invitation to Disclose a Disability

Sponsors must invite applicants and incoming apprentices to voluntarily disclose a disability twice during the hiring process by:

- 1. Administering the latest version of the Bureau's standard apprentice application and its attachments, or an acceptable alternative which includes the disability disclosure form.¹³⁹
- 2. Giving the Bureau's disability disclosure form, or an acceptable alternative, to incoming apprentices before they begin their training.¹⁴⁰

Annually, the Bureau will invite each registered apprentice to complete a disability disclosure form.

The opportunity should be given to fill out the form privately. The voluntary disclosure forms are not to be provided to officials involved with interviewing, testing, hiring, supervising, or assigning applicants. Any hard copies of the forms must be stored in a confidential data analysis file, that is separate from the apprentice's personnel or medical file, for a period of five years from receipt.¹⁴¹

Many disabilities do not require any work accommodation, but it is important to let applicants and apprentices know they can request a reasonable accommodation from the sponsor, employer, or related instruction provider, which is separate from the voluntary disclosure form and data tracking.

The only instances when medical information from the disclosure form may be shared by a sponsor is in communicating necessary work restrictions or accommodations to a supervisor or manager, informing first aid or safety personnel when a disability may require emergency treatment and, cooperation with government officials engaged in the enforcement of equal opportunity laws or regulations.¹⁴²

¹⁴¹ § DWD 296.12(4) ¹⁴² § DWD 296.12(5)(a-c)

¹³⁵ § DWD 296.04(1)(a) ¹³⁶ § DWD 296.04(3)(a)

¹³⁷ § DWD 296.04(3)(c)

^{138 §} DWD 296.04(2)(a-f) ¹³⁹ § DWD 296.11(1)

¹⁴⁰ § DWD 296.11(2)

2. Utilization Goal and Activities (disability)

DOL has set a utilization goal of 7 percent for participation of qualified individuals with disabilities in an apprenticeship program for each major occupation group.¹⁴³ DOL has sole authority to adjust this goal. A sponsor, with assistance from the Bureau, will perform a workforce analysis to tally the number of apprentices with a self-disclosed disability for each occupation in their program. If individuals with disabilities are represented in a sponsor's registered apprenticeship program in any given major occupation at a rate less than the utilization goal of 7 percent, the sponsor must take the following measures.¹⁴⁴

Identification of problem areas: determine if impediments to equal opportunities exist, and where they exist. In its identification efforts, a sponsor must consider the results of its assessment of personnel processes and the effectiveness of its outreach and recruitment efforts.¹⁴⁵

Action-oriented programs: initiate targeted outreach, recruitment, and retention activities described in Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 296.08 to correct any problem areas identified in its review of personnel processes and outreach and recruitment efforts.¹⁴⁶

An apprentice workforce analysis is to be completed at each compliance review, and again if three years have passed without a compliance review. Newly registered apprenticeship programs must conduct their first workforce analysis within two years of registration with the Bureau.

3. Utilization Analysis (race, sex, ethnicity)

At least every three years, and at each compliance review, a workforce analysis must be conducted.¹⁴⁷ An availability analysis will be conducted at each compliance review, collaboratively between the sponsor and the Bureau.¹⁴⁸

The *workforce analysis* examines the gender, race, and ethnicity of apprentices for each occupation (per Standard Occupational Classification (SOC)) in the program.¹⁴⁹

The *availability analysis* is the gender, race, and ethnicity of the qualified labor force in the sponsor's relevant recruitment, which is "the geographical area from which the sponsor usually seeks or reasonably could seek apprentices."¹⁵⁰ Local apprenticeship committees use their jurisdictional areas.

The *utilization analysis* compares the availability analysis and workforce analysis. If significant disparity is identified the sponsor must establish a utilization goal for the affected demographic and occupation.¹⁵¹

Note: The Bureau uses the 80 percent/whole person method to identify significant disparity, meaning if utilization is less than 80 percent of availability, by a margin of one whole person, then a goal must be set.

4. Utilization Goals (race, sex, ethnicity)

The sponsor must set a utilization goal for every major occupation group for which a significant disparity exists for women, Hispanics or Latinos, or any minority race. The goal must be at least equal to the figure calculated in the availability analysis.¹⁵² Goals are not to be used as quotas or supersede selection qualifications, and do not signify a finding of discrimination.

```
<sup>147</sup> § DWD 296.05(3)
```

```
<sup>148</sup> § DWD 296.05(5)(f)
<sup>149</sup> § DWD 296.05(2)
```

¹⁴⁴ § DWD 296.07(2)
¹⁴⁵ § DWD 296.07(6)
¹⁴⁶ § DWD 296.07(7)

```
1.07(7) <sup>150</sup> § DWD 296.05(1)
```

¹⁵¹ § DWD 296.05(6) ¹⁵² § DWD 296.06(1)

¹⁴³ § DWD 296.07(1)

5. Targeted Outreach, Recruitment and Retention

A sponsor that has found underutilization and established at least one utilization goal must perform targeted outreach and recruitment activities for that demographic group.¹⁵³ The activities must be aimed at generating an increase in applications and improving retention in the targeted group. At a minimum, a sponsor must perform the following activities for each group for which underutilization was found:¹⁵⁴

- i. Distribute general information about the apprenticeship, such as the minimum entry requirements, availability of apprenticeship opportunities, nature of the work, and the equal opportunity pledge to organizations serving the underutilized group. These organizations may be community based, local high schools, vocational schools, technical colleges, job centers and other workforce system entities.
- ii. Advertise openings for apprenticeship through advertisements in appropriate media with wide circulation in the relevant recruitment area.
- iii. Collaborate with local school boards, vocational education system, and state certified preapprenticeship programs to target students of the underutilized group and prepare them to meet the minimum standards and entry criteria for the program,
- Establish partnerships to enlist the assistance of certified pre-apprenticeship programs, communityiv. based organizations, advocacy organizations, and other appropriate types of entities, in recruiting qualified individuals for apprenticeship.

Selection Cycle Review

In the written affirmative action plan, the sponsor must identify the specific targeted outreach, recruitment, and retention activities planned for the upcoming program year. After each apprentice selection cycle, the sponsor must evaluate and document the effectiveness of these activities. Documentation of the activities must be maintained by the sponsor to demonstrate compliance. Targeted outreach, recruitment and retention activities are to be refined and modified as needed.¹⁵⁵

6. Annual Review

On an annual basis the sponsor must engage in a comprehensive review of its apprenticeship program in an effort to identify any potential discriminatory personnel practices.¹⁵⁶ The review must examine the personnel processes related to:

- Apprentice qualifications, application, and selection procedures; •
- Wages:
- Outreach and recruitment activities;
- Advancement opportunities; •
- Promotions; •
- Work assignments; •
- Job performance; •
- Work process rotations;
- Disciplinary actions; •
- Handling of requests for reasonable accommodations;
- Program accessibility for individuals with disabilities, including the use of communication technology. 157

The sponsor must document its review and include a copy of that documentation in the affirmative action plan for compliance purposes. If, as a result of the review, any modifications to the program's personnel practices are recommend or enacted, those action must also be recorded in the affirmative action plan.¹⁵⁸

¹⁵⁵ § DWD 296.08(1)(a-d) ¹⁵⁶ § DWD 296.09(1)

¹⁵³ § DWD 296.08(1)
¹⁵⁴ § DWD 296.08(1)(a)1.-4.

¹⁵⁷ § DWD 296.09(1)(a-k) ¹⁵⁸ § DWD 296.09(3)

Newly registered sponsors must conduct their first personnel process review within two years of registration.¹⁵⁹

Implementation of Affirmative Action Plan

The Bureau provides technical assistance to sponsors in completing their affirmative action plans. All written affirmative action plans must be affirmed by the sole sponsor or local apprenticeship committee. If the sponsor is a local apprenticeship committee, the written plan should be reviewed at a scheduled committee meeting, so there is an understanding among committee members of the responsibilities associated with the plan.

Local joint or non-joint apprenticeship committees and industry committees must share the plan with their associated trade trainers or employers and clearly communicate what actions each employer must take to ensure the execution of the affirmative action program and compliance with the affirmative action and equal opportunity regulations. Moreover, joint and non-joint committees, must include affirmative action as an agenda item for each committee meeting to discuss the planned activities and track progress toward its goals. A record of the activities must be recorded as part of the official committee minutes or on an approved affirmative action log form.

Compliance Review

The Bureau conducts equal opportunity compliance reviews of sponsors with five or more apprentices and an affirmative action program every three years, or sooner when circumstances warrant. The Bureau will evaluate the program for its affirmative action and equal opportunity obligations found in Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 296.¹⁶⁰ Compliance monitoring may be performed remotely, on-site or a combination.¹⁶¹

Contents of Review

The compliance review will examine the following aspects of an apprenticeship program:

- a) The demographics of applicants, apprentices and the surrounding labor market;
- b) Apprentice selection procedures;
- c) Application forms and process;
- d) Recordkeeping;
- e) Personnel processes;
- f) Complaint procedures;
- g) Anti-harassment training;
- h) Affirmative action goals and activities;

No Findings

If no violations are identified, the sponsor will be notified in writing within 45 days of the end of the review process that no additional action is required.¹⁶²

Findings

If the compliance review indicates a failure to comply with the affirmative action program or Wisconsin's equal opportunity regulations, or, if the ATR is unable to obtain the information and records needed to complete the compliance review, the Bureau will inform the sponsor in writing, within 45 days of the end of the review period. The written notice to the sponsor will include the following:

- i. The deficiencies identified;
- ii. How to remedy the deficiencies;
- iii. The timeframe within which the deficiencies must be corrected; and
- iv. Enforcement actions that may be taken if compliance is not achieved within the required timeframe.¹⁶³

Compliance

Compliance Action Plan

Within 30 days of receiving notice of compliance review findings, the sponsor must implement a compliance action plan and notify the Bureau of the plan.¹⁶⁴ The Bureau will provide technical assistance and guidance to sponsors who must implement a compliance action plan. A compliance action plan must include:

- i. A commitment, in writing, to correct or remediate the identified deficiencies and areas of noncompliance;
- ii. The precise actions to be taken for each deficiency identified;
- iii. The time period within which the cited deficiencies will be remedied and any corrective program changes implemented;

¹⁶⁰ § DWD 296.13(1)	¹⁶² § DWD 296.13(3)	¹⁶⁴ § DWD 296.13(4)(a)
¹⁶¹ § DWD 296.13(2)(a-b)	¹⁶³ § DWD 296.13(3)(a-d)	

The name of the individual responsible for correcting each deficiency identified;¹⁶⁵ iv.

Upon the Bureau's approval of the compliance action plan, a sponsor may be considered in compliance, provided that the action plan is implemented.¹⁶⁶ A sponsor that fails to implement a compliance action plan within the specified timeframes may be subject to enforcement actions including suspension of its ability to register new apprentices and deregistration.¹⁶⁷ The ATR will continually monitor the sponsor while it is subject to the action plan. If, according to the deadlines timetable contained in the compliance action plan, the sponsor continually fails to execute its objectives, and technical assistance is not productive, the sponsor may be subject to enforcement actions such as:

- An increase in the frequency of compliance reviews; i.
- ii. Suspension:
- iii. Deregistration proceedings.

A sponsor that is deregistered by the Department under DWD 296.15(2)(b)2. may request a hearing as prescribed under § DWD 295.23.168

Rebuttal

Alternatively, within 30 days of a finding, the sponsor may submit a written rebuttal to the Bureau. the Bureau will conduct a review of the findings and either:

- a) uphold the notice of compliance review finding, or¹⁶⁹
- b) modify the compliance review findings in whole or in part.¹⁷⁰

Extension

A sponsor may request a one-time, 30-day extension to either submit a compliance action plan or rebuttal to the findings of a compliance review.¹⁷¹

- ¹⁶⁵ § DWD 296.13(4)(d)1.-4.
 ¹⁶⁶ § DWD 296.13(4)(e)
- ¹⁶⁷ § DWD 296.13(5)

¹⁶⁸ § DWD 296.16

- ¹⁶⁹ § DWD 296.13(4)(b)1 ¹⁷⁰ § DWD 296.13(4)(b)2

171 § DWD 296.13(4)(a)

Quality Assurance Assessment

A Quality Assurance Assessment is a comprehensive review conducted by the Bureau regarding all aspects of an apprenticeship program's performance.¹⁷² Both provisionally and permanently registered apprenticeship programs are subject to quality assurance assessments. Reviews may be conducted remotely or on-site, at the Bureau's discretion.

Frequency

Quality assurance assessments are conducted at least once every five years, and more frequently for newly established programs.¹⁷³ Assessments are not conducted for an inactive sponsor (one with no current, active apprentice contracts) nor for a construction employer, because it is not the sponsor of the apprenticeship program.

Annual Provisional Assessment

The annual provisional assessment is conducted for all provisional sponsors once a year during the period they carry that status, which typically lasts for one full apprentice training cycle.¹⁷⁴ This assessment assists the Bureau in identifying any areas where the sponsor may need technical assistance in operating their program and complying with program standards.

Final Provisional Assessment

The final provisional assessment is conducted at the end of the provisional registration and completion of the first full apprentice training cycle. This assessment covers the entire provisional training cycle and determines whether the sponsor successfully operates their apprenticeship program and can be granted permanent registration.¹⁷⁵

Five-Year Assessment

Sponsors with permanent registration (active) status are assessed at least once every five years.¹⁷⁶ This review is designed to identify program deficiencies, to provide technical assistance, and to assist the sponsor with program management and expansion. The assessment reviews one-year period of operation prior to the quality assessment review date, though the ATR may expand the timeframe if warranted.

The Assessment

The assessment contains a series of evaluative questions grouped into sections. Each section evaluates a different aspect of the apprenticeship program and are as outlined below.

- i. Sponsor Occupations and Apprentices - Verifies that the apprenticeship occupations and apprentices catalogued in the Bureau's database match those of the sponsor.
- ii. **Program Operation** – An assessment of the apprenticeships program's overall operations and their quality.
- **Related Instruction** A review of the related instruction administered to apprentices to ensure that it iii. conforms to the Bureau's standards.
- **On-the-Job Learning** Captures the ATR's assessment of the quality of occupational training given iv. to apprentices.

¹⁷⁴ § DWD 295.01(7) ¹⁷⁵ § DWD 295.01(7)(a) ¹⁷⁶ § DWD 295.01(8)

¹⁷² § DWD 295.001(16) ¹⁷³ § DWD 295.01(8)

v. **Equal Opportunity** – Examination of the program's execution of the required equal opportunity activities applicable to all sponsors (affirmative action plans and goals are examined separately during the compliance reviews).

Deficiencies

The ATR will address any deficiencies identified during the review with the sponsor and determine what corrective action must be taken.

Minor deficiencies, those that can be easily remedied, may be addressed through follow-up communication with the sponsor, or by simply highlighting findings for the sponsor to address at the next quality assessment. In some cases, the ATR may leave the quality assessment as incomplete until those findings are remediated, then finish the assessment.

Serious violations may result in an ATR initiating a written corrective action plan. Failure to abide by the corrective action plan may ultimately lead to program deregistration.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

Where the conditions of employment of apprentices are stipulated by a collective bargaining agreement, the program will be guided by the agreement provided it is not in conflict with administrative code or statute. Provisions within local collective bargaining agreements must conform to the minimum requirements of the state standards.

Apprentice-Journeyworker Ratios

In respect to apprentice-journeyworker ratios, state law prohibits the Bureau from prescribing and enforcing a minimum ratio requirement of more than one journeyworker for each apprentice with the exception for apprentices whose employment is governed by a collective bargaining agreement.¹⁷⁷ In such cases, the apprenticeship program may operate under the ratio prescribed in the agreement, so long as it meets the minimum ratio as set by state occupational standards.

Labor Disputes

It is the Bureau's policy that no apprenticeship actions can be taken with an employer that has an existing labor agreement and is engaged in a labor dispute.

- A labor dispute is defined as a work stoppage, strike, or other dispute that disrupts the training of apprentices as determined by the Bureau.
- An apprentice action is cancellation, reassignment, completion, or other change in an existing contract as well as approval of a new contract.

In cases where all parties agree, this policy may be waived by the Bureau. Only apprentices and apprentice applicants in trades affected by the dispute are covered by this policy. In instances where a vote is in progress to determine if a bargaining agent will represent the employees, the involved labor organization is advised of pending apprentice actions by the Bureau.

¹⁷⁷ Wis. Stat. § 106.015(2)

Layoff and Unassignment

Layoff

Sponsors should employ apprentices to the extent possible, but when an apprentice has been laid off, the sponsor must notify the Bureau if the lay-off extends more than 30 days. In laying off an apprentice and returning an apprentice to work, the sponsor should follow its lay-off and recall procedures. Layoffs of less than 30 days do not abrogate the apprentice's obligation under the contract, and the apprentice is expected to return to work upon recall notice.

Laid off apprentices must be given the opportunity to return to work before a new apprentice is hired in that trade by the employer. In industries where apprentice layoffs and recalls are governed by bargaining agreements, the terms of the bargaining agreement apply.

Unassignment

The placement of an apprentice in unassignment status temporarily halts the apprenticeship program, so the apprentice can resume at a later date without the need to go through the application process. Unassignment is a temporary interruption of the apprenticeship program, normally for 30 days or more. The initial unassignment cannot exceed one year but may be extended for good cause, when approved by the Bureau. Apprentices are often placed on unassignment for one of the following reasons:

- i. Illness or injury;
- ii. Lack of work;
- iii. Return to post-secondary education;
- iv. Temporarily removed from the program for personal reasons, such as incarceration;
- v. Military service, in which case the contract will be extended without penalty;
- vi. A natural disaster or large-scale emergency such as a pandemic;
- vii. For disciplinary reasons, which may deem the apprentice ineligible for work and wages or unemployment benefits and may extend the length of the apprenticeship and delay the completion date;
- viii. If a sponsor or an employer has an approved process for random or scheduled drug testing and an apprentice fails that test, they may be placed on unassigned status until they are in compliance with the drug testing policy and are permitted to return to the job site.

Related Instruction During Layoff

The Bureau will act to place in "unassigned" status the contract of any apprentice who is out of work for longer than 30 consecutive days. This action places the apprentice contract on hold until such time as the apprentice is recalled to work and the contract activities can resume. In accordance with this policy, and to maintain continuity in related instruction, the apprentice must continue to attend school during the 30-day period following the layoff. The costs associated with paid related instruction during this 30-day period, including apprentice wages, shall be covered by the apprentice's most recent employer prior to the layoff (unless the apprentice has been terminated for violation of the employer's written work rules).

On the 31st day following the date of layoff, the obligation of the employer to pay the apprentice for school attendance ends. However, the employer or Bureau may permit a laid-off apprentice to complete the semester that is underway at the time of layoff beyond 30 days. If apprentices are on layoff when a new semester begins the apprentices may be allowed to begin school providing their recall to work is imminent.

Sponsor Deregistration & Suspension

Request of the Sponsor

When a sponsor makes a written request to the Bureau to deregister their apprenticeship program, the Bureau will provide written acknowledgement of the deregistration, its effective date, and notify all affected apprentices of the cancellation within 15 days of the deregistration date.¹⁷⁸ Apprentices will be referred to the Bureau for information regarding transfer to other registered apprenticeship programs.

Reasonable Cause

Deregistration may be undertaken when a program becomes inactive, is not conforming to its own program standards, or is in violation of Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 295.

Prior to deregistration, a sponsor will be given the opportunity to rectify any such findings.

Notice and Extension

Notice will be sent to the program sponsor by certified mail outlining the concerns of the program, the required remedy for each concern, and that deregistration will occur within 30 days if corrective action is not taken.¹⁷⁹ A sponsor can request an additional 30 days, for good cause, to become compliant. The Bureau will assist the sponsor during the corrective action period to achieve compliance.

Notice of Deregistration

If the sponsor fails to take the required corrective action in the allotted time period, the Bureau may find reasonable cause to deregister the program and will notify the sponsor by certified mail.

Hearing

The sponsor may requests a hearing within 15 days of the notice of deregistration, hearings will be held in accordance with Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 295.23 and Wis. Stat. Ch. 227. ¹⁸⁰

Non-hearing Order

If the sponsor does not request a hearing, the Bureau will prepare a report concerning the nonconformity, including findings and recommendation for deregistration, along with relevant documentation and the Department shall make a final order on the basis of the record presented.¹⁸¹

Reinstatement of Program Registration

If a program is ultimately deregistered, they may seek reinstatement from the Bureau upon presentation of evidence that the program is operating in accordance with the state's apprenticeship rules and regulations.¹⁸²

Equal Opportunity Enforcement Action

When Bureau determines that a registered apprenticeship program is not operating in accordance with Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 296, the following process is followed. Noncompliance can be identified as the result of a compliance review, complaint investigation or other means.

¹⁸⁰ § DWD 295.21(9)
¹⁸¹ § DWD 295.21(8)

¹⁸² § DWD 295.22

Notice

The Bureau will initially send written notice of noncompliance to the sponsor, identifying the specific violations and offering technical assistance. The sponsor be expected to implement a compliance action plan and correct the violation(s).

The Bureau may also refer violations it has identified to the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Wisconsin Equal Rights Division, or DOL.

Suspension

If the sponsor does not adopt a satisfactory compliance action plan to remediate to issue within 30 days, the Bureau may suspend the sponsor's right to register new apprentices.¹⁸³

Deregistration

If the sponsor still has not implemented a compliance action plan within 30 days of a suspension notice, the Bureau may begin deregistration proceedings as outlined under Wis. Admin. Code § DWD 295.21.¹⁸⁴

Appeal

A sponsor that has been issued a deregistration notice for alleged affirmative action or equal opportunity violations may request an appeal hearing within 15 days of receipt of the notice.¹⁸⁵

Reinstatement

A program sponsor that has been deregistered for violations of Wis. Admin. Code Ch. DWD 296 may be reinstated if it is able to demonstrate compliance to the Bureau.¹⁸⁶

Complaints and Appeals

Contract Complaints

The Bureau will review written complaints which allege that another party to the contract is not in compliance with the contract, or which raise an issue related to the apprenticeship program that may have a cognizable impact on the person filing the complaint. This complaint must be filed by a party to the apprentice contract. The Bureau may accept such complaints only after a final local decision has been rendered.¹⁸⁷ The complaint must be submitted to the Bureau within 20 calendar days of the final local decision, and meet the content requirements of a complaint, or risk dismissal by the Bureau.¹⁸⁸

A "final local decision" means a final decision on the matter by a party to the apprentice contract, such as the apprenticeship sponsor or the ATR assigned to oversee the corresponding apprenticeship program. Parties considering filing a complaint are encouraged to bring the matter to the attention of the ATR first, who may facilitate a resolution to the satisfaction of both parties.

Contents of Complaint

Parties who wish to elevate their contract-related complaint to the Bureau's administrative office must ensure the complaint meets the following criteria:

- a. Submitted in written format,
- b. Signed by the complainant or an authorized representative,
- c. Contain the specific grievances along with a detailed account of the relevant facts and circumstances.
- d. Includes copies of pertinent documents and correspondence.¹⁸⁹

Parties are encouraged to use the Bureau's standard contract complaint form to ensure the submission contains the necessary information.

Procedure

Once the contract complaint is received, the Bureau will investigate the matter and make reasonable efforts to reach a satisfactory resolution between the parties. Where appropriate, the ATR may assist in the investigation and in mediation between the parties toward a resolution. If the matter cannot be resolved to both parties' satisfaction, the Bureau will issue an opinion on the complaint based on the findings of its investigation within 90 days of receipt of the complaint.¹⁹⁰ If the Bureau's investigation into the complaint reveals it does not have merit, or that the dispute is unrelated to the provisions of the apprentice contract, the Bureau will dismiss the complaint.¹⁹¹ Copies of the Bureau's determination will be sent to all interested parties.

Appeal of Determination

If any party to the contract disagrees with the Bureau's opinion and wishes to pursue the matter through an administrative hearing they must make a timely request for a hearing,¹⁹² within 20 days from the date of the determination. The Bureau will not hold hearings on matters which are unrelated to the provisions of the apprentice contract as defined in § DWD 295.20(5). If the Bureau determines that the alleged violation of the apprentice contract is not appropriate subject matter for a hearing, any dissatisfied party may petition for judicial review to circuit court as outlined in Wis. Stat. §§ 227.52 and 227.53

```
<sup>189</sup> § DWD 295.20(2)
<sup>190</sup> § DWD 295.20(3)
```

¹⁹¹ § DWD 295.20(5)(d) ¹⁹³ § DWD 296.03(2)(d)

¹⁸⁷ § DWD 295.20(1) ¹⁸⁸ § DWD 295.20(2)

Discrimination Complaint

For matters related to discrimination within an apprenticeship program, apprentices and apprenticeship applicants in Wisconsin have a number of avenues for recourse. They may attempt to address the issue through their apprenticeship sponsor, which has an obligation under the state apprenticeship equal opportunity rules to ensure their program is free from harassment, retaliation and intimidation because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, age (40 or older), genetic information or disability.¹⁹³

Apprentices or applicants may also pursue a discrimination complaint against their employer or program sponsor through the Wisconsin Equal Rights Division or U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Their contact is:

Wisconsin Equal Rights Division https://dwd.wisconsin.gov/er/contacts.htm

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/contact-eeoc</u>

Any apprentice or applicant who is retaliated against for making a discrimination complaint, assisting with a discrimination complaint, opposing discrimination in the apprenticeship program, or exercising any right or privilege under the state's apprenticeship equal opportunity rules may also file a complaint with the Bureau.

Contents of Complaint

The complaint must be filed with the Bureau within 300 days of the alleged discrimination, retaliation, or failure to follow the equal opportunity standards.¹⁹⁴ Each complaint filed with the Bureau must be in writing and contain all of the following information:¹⁹⁵

- a. The complainant's name, address, and telephone number, including best method of contact.
- b. All available information to identify the respondent (apprenticeship program sponsor), including name, address, and telephone number.
- c. A description of the events, including the date and location the events took place, and why the complainant believes the actions were discriminatory or failed to follow equal opportunity standards.
- d. The applicant's or apprentice's signature, or the signature of an authorized representative.

The Bureau recommends using the designated <u>discrimination complaint form</u> to ensure all necessary information is submitted along with the complaint.

Procedure

Once the Bureau receives a written complaint that meets the above criteria, it will initiate an investigation and may contact the parties involved, including relevant witnesses, to obtain additional information if necessary.¹⁹⁶

Upon completion of the investigation, the Bureau will provide a written explanation of its findings to both the apprentice, or apprenticeship applicant and the apprenticeship program sponsor.¹⁹⁷ If a violation is identified, the Bureau will attempt to resolve the matter administratively. However, if the complaint cannot be resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant, the Bureau will refer the complaint to the

¹⁹⁵ § DWD 296.14(1)(c)1-4
¹⁹⁶ § DWD 296.14(3)(a)1.-3.

197 § DWD 296.14(3)(a)5

¹⁹³ § DWD 296.03(2)(d) ¹⁹⁴ § DWD 296.14(1)(b)

^{96.14(1)(}b) ¹⁹⁶ §

Wisconsin Equal Rights Division, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or local enforcement agency with the capacity to investigate and address such a complaint.¹⁹⁸

The Bureau has the authority to begin proceedings to suspend or deregister an apprenticeship program sponsor based on the results of a discrimination complaint and investigation. At its own discretion, the Bureau may refer a complaint to any of the following agencies:

- a. U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission,
- b. U.S. Attorney General,
- c. DOL Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs,
- d. Wisconsin Equal Rights Division.¹⁹⁹

Intent to Cancel Notice

When a party to the apprentice contract requests cancellation of the contract, the Bureau will send a 20day intent to cancel notice to all parties to the contract. The notice will state that the contract will be cancelled unless the Bureau receives a written objection from any party within the 20-day objection period. The Bureau will include with the notice a standardized objection form, which must be used when any party wishes to object to the proposed action.²⁰⁰ The intent-to-cancel notice is not sent to apprentices within their probationary period because the procedures outlined in § DWD 295.20(7) do not apply during the probationary period specified in the apprentice contract.

No objection

If the Bureau does not receive an objection to the intent to cancel notice before the expiration of the 20day objection period, the contract will be cancelled effective the date indicated on the notice of cancellation.²⁰¹

Timely objection

If the Bureau receives an official objection form from any party before the expiration the 20-day objection period, the apprentice contract will remain in its current status while the Bureau considers the objection.²⁰² Apprentices attending related instruction will continue to do so during review of the objection. If the Bureau determines that the apprentice contract should be cancelled, the cancellation will become effective at the conclusion of the review and the Bureau will issue a cancellation notice. If the Bureau determines it is not appropriate to cancel the contract, it will rescind the intent to cancel notice.²⁰³ A decision to cancel or rescind the intent to cancel notice is generally issued by the Bureau within 30 days of receipt of any objection.

Cancellation Notice

In cases where an intent-to-cancel notice is issued and upheld, the Bureau will send a written cancellation notice to all parties of the contract.²⁰⁴ After cancellation, the apprentice contract is no longer active as of the date indicated on the notice, and the apprentice's status will change to cancelled. Probationary apprentices are not able to appeal contract cancellations.

Timely objection

Any party to the contract who wishes to object to the cancellation notice must make a request for a hearing within 20 days of the date of the cancellation notice.²⁰⁵ This request can be made by submitting the appeal form attached to the cancellation notice, which is also available <u>online</u>.

¹⁹⁸ § DWD 296.14(3)(b)	²⁰¹ § DWD 295.20(4)(b)	²⁰⁴ § DWD 295.20(4)(d)
¹⁹⁹ § DWD 296.14(3)(c)14.	²⁰² § DWD 295.20(4)(c)1	²⁰⁵ § DWD 295.20(4)(d)
²⁰⁰ § DWD 295.20(4)(a)	²⁰³ § DWD 295.20(4)(c)3	

Upon receipt of a request for hearing, the Bureau will review the basis for the request and determine whether the matter is related to the provisions of the apprentice contract as defined in § DWD 295.20(5). The Bureau will notify the affected parties of its decision along with an explanation of the facts it considered in arriving at its decision. If the Bureau determines that the basis for the appeal is not appropriate subject matter for a hearing, any dissatisfied party may petition for judicial review to circuit court as outlined in Wis. Stats. §§ 227.52 and 227.53

Hearings

The Bureau will review complaints and appeals that concern the terms of the contract, an allegation that a party to the contract is not complying with those terms, and objections to the department's issuance of a cancellation notice. Examples of subject matter which may be appropriate for an administrative hearing through the Bureau include:²⁰⁶

- i. That the employer or other party to the apprentice contract has not provided the apprentice the proper on-the-job learning as required in the apprentice contract;
- ii. That the employer or other party to the apprentice contract has failed to provide the apprentice the proper related instruction as required in the apprentice contract;
- iii. That the employer or other party to the apprentice contract has assigned the apprentice to perform job duties which do not provide the proper on-the-job learning as required in the apprentice contract;
- iv. That the employer or other party to the apprentice contract has failed to pay the wages as required in the apprentice contract;
- v. That the apprentice is not satisfactorily progressing in the on-the-job learning or related instruction required under the apprentice contract.

An administrative hearing is not appropriate when the subject of the complaint or matter in dispute is unrelated to the provisions of the apprenticeship contract. This includes but is not limited to:²⁰⁷

- i. Employee absenteeism or tardiness at work or school;
- ii. Employee use of drugs or alcohol on the job at work or school;
- iii. Insubordination;
- iv. Refusal to perform work as assigned;
- v. Employee violations of the employer's printed work rules.

If an administrative hearing is warranted in response to a cancellation objection or complaint, the Bureau will appoint a hearing examiner, who was not involved in the initial investigation, and notify the parties to the contract at least 20 days prior to the date of the hearing.²⁰⁸ The Bureau will strive to hold a hearing within 90 days of when an examiner is appointed and issue a final decision within 30 days after the conclusion of the hearing.

At the hearing, only appropriate, apprenticeship program-related subject matter, as outlined above, will be considered by the examiner.²⁰⁹ It is the responsibility of the party submitting the complaint to present evidence at the hearing to support the allegations in the complaint. Evidence at the hearing will be admitted as provided in Wis. Stat. § 227.45.²¹⁰ Failure to attend the scheduled hearing or put forth sufficient evidence in support of the contents of the complaint may result in its dismissal.²¹¹

²⁰⁶ § DWD 295.20(5)(b)1-5	²⁰⁸ § DWD 295.20(6)(a)-(b)	²¹⁰ § DWD 295.20(6)(e)
²⁰⁷ § DWD 295.20(5)(c)1-5	²⁰⁹ § DWD 295.20(6)(c)	²¹¹ § DWD 295.20(6)(d)

The final written decision and order will be distributed to the parties. The Bureau will either delegate to the independent hearing officer the authority to issue a final decision, or it will conduct a prompt review and final decision on any proposed decision issued by the independent hearing officer. All proceedings will be in compliance with DWD § 295.20. Any party may seek judicial review of an order of the hearing examiner, as provided in Wis. Stat. Ch. 227.

Wisconsin Apprenticeship Council

The Wisconsin Apprenticeship Council's (Council) mission is to advise the Bureau and Department on matters involving the Wisconsin apprenticeship system, including the enactment of laws, rules, and standards. It consists of the following membership: ²¹²

Membership (22)	Appointed by
 Nine employer representatives Two members who represent public interest Nine employee representatives 	Secretary of the Department of Workforce Development
One representative	State Superintendent of Public Instruction
One representative	Director of Wisconsin Technical College System
• Nonvoting chairperson (must be permanent, classified DWD employee)	Secretary of the Department of Workforce Development

All members of the Council must be persons who are familiar with apprenticeable occupations.²¹³ Employee and employer members serve three-year terms and are nominated by statewide trade associations, employer groups, state labor organizations, and community-based organizations. The Bureau may also nominate members to diversify the representation of apprenticeship sectors on the Council.

Only designated members of the Council are authorized to vote. However, if a council member cannot attend a meeting, an alternate member may be designated to vote in that person's stead, according to the Council bylaws. The Council meets quarterly, and more often if necessary. Its bylaws are reviewed at least every five years.

²¹² Wis. Stat. § 15.227(13)(a)1.- ²¹³ Wis. Stat. § 15.227(13)(b) 6.